NATURAL

MicroSystems

To Our Shareholders:

for Natural MicroSystems. We
strategically repositioned our company, solidly
established top line growth and achieved a
financial turnaround. Today, as the New Network
emerges —driven by the convergence of voice

and data infrastructures and the promise of rich
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communication and information services and appli-

cations — Natural MicroSystems is strategically and

technologically positioned to fulfill the enabling tech-
nology needs of these new, high-growth markets.

In addition to important strategic milestones,
we achieved major progress in our operations.

We successfully completed a difficult financial turn-
around, beating every goal we set for ourselves in
1999. We established a record of solid quarterly
growth throughout the year, positioning ourselves
for explosive revenue growth ahead. We held

our expenses in check, improved inventory turns,
and achieved “best in class” accounts receivable
performance. This bodes well for much improved
financials, top to bottom, as we go forward.

During 1999, we completed a worldwide and
dramatic refocusing of our go-to-market strategy. By
directing ourselves to a well defined set of market-
leading customers and high-growth markets, we
have sharply focused our marketing and selling
efforts, identified and won new business opportuni-
ties, and are on track to support our target customers
much more effectively. The partnership we created
with our US channel partner, Channel Access, is
already resulting in improved performance with our
indirect customers, and we are close to implement-
ing similar relationships in other parts of the world.
In rough numbers, this means our direct sales
and our marketing resources are now focused on
100 target accounts, while our channel partners
support us in serving the needs of 900 important,
but smaller, accounts.

In a technology-driven marketplace where
new product development is crucial, we had a great
product development year, extending our technology
leadership on several fronts. Some of the important
deliveries included:

An on-time beta release of a next-generation
platform, the Convergence Generation™ (CG)
6000, targeted specifically at new network
opportunities. Products are currently in field
trials with key customers and scheduled for
general availability in the second quarter.

New versions of our SS7 product family,
increasing price performance and adding
CompactPCI® and redundancy support for

the Intelligent Network capabilities required by
network-based solutions.

Important upgrades to our communications
software environment, Natural Access’, including
new packaging, client-server capabilities, SNMP
and OAM support for remote management

and administration, a GUI configurator and
DSP-based conferencing.

The release of Fusion™ 3.0, furthering our lead-
ership in the important Voice over IP (VolIP) area.

Fully featured NaturalFax™ updates, which dra-
matically extend our price performance lead.

The introduction of the CX 2000 product family,
expanding our capabilities in call center and
open PBX markets.

Our product offerings were complemented and
enhanced by our services. Launched in 1998, the
NaturalEdge™ Support and Engineering Consulting
Services businesses have given us a new way

to deliver value to our customers by providing
customized support and design, development,
deployment, and network interoperability expertise.
Our ability to provide this level of service and sup-
port has reduced time to market and accelerated
deployment of some of the most innovative and
important offerings in the communications market-
place today. Among these are:

Ericsson’s GSM Pro wireless workgroup solution,
currently being deployed by operators all over
the world

Lucent's IP ExchangeComm?© revolutionizing
enterprise communications for small and
large companies

NEC's ElectraElite® key telephone system, one
of the most popular communication systems in
the world, upgraded to next-generation status
with the addition of voice-over-IP capabilities by
Natural MicroSystems

Clarent's carrier-quality IP telephony solution for
international service provider markets, support-
ed on a 24x7 basis in installations in the US
and China



Most important — and what | personally find

most gratifying — is the way in which the Natural
MicroSystems team worked together, and overcame
some very difficult challenges by remaining focused
on the essential business of building great products
and taking care of our customers. I'm convinced
these experiences have improved us and made
Natural MicroSystems a more formidable competitor.

So, what lies ahead?

We have a unique opportunity in sight. Our industry
is at the very early stage of a tremendous amount of
global investment in communications infrastructure
and solutions. This investment is being driven by
relentless competition among service providers, rap-
idly changing technologies, the huge opportunities
arising from the convergence of voice and data
infrastructures, and the seemingly insatiable global
demand for new communications services and
capabilities from consumers as well as enterprises.

Our customers, the equipment and solution
providers scrambling to meet these requirements,
are increasingly recognizing the need to leverage
their capabilities and resources by collaborating
with a few key suppliers who can provide essential
enabling technologies and services. In the past year,
we have won business with virtually every one of
these large, global telecom equipment vendors —
Siemens, Lucent, Ericsson, Nokia, Nortel, Motorola,
NEC, and Alcatel. They have made clear to us their
requirements for quality, leading-edge technologies
coupled with complementary services and tight
strategic relationships — and we are delivering.

We aim to be the dominant provider of carrier-
grade enabling technologies to the world’s leading
suppliers of communications solutions for the New
Network. This is the vision we've been pursuing, with
added emphasis on converged communications
technologies and a go-to-market strategy tightly
focused on the leading companies in the industry.

Our position was considerably strengthened in
December when we acquired QWES.com, the tech-
nology innovator in premium IP service provisioning
and Quality of Service (QoS). Simply stated, service
providers cannot deliver next-generation, differenti-
ated services, such as packet voice, or support for

application service providers without the service level
agreements and guarantees such premium services
require. The PolicyPoint™ IP service provisioning
platform provides breakthrough QoS capabilities
that enable service level agreements to be defined,
implemented, and monitored in a rapid and cost-
effective manner. The acquisition of QWES.com also
provides Natural MicroSystems with complementary
expertise and technologies in remote provisioning,
high-performance real-time processing, ATM, and
multi-protocol internetworking.

Our target market segments are large and
growing fast. Our sales and service teams are better
equipped and better focused. Our product strategy
is tightly linked to our major accounts and their needs.
The strategic changes and initiatives of 1999 have
created the platform for more consistent, predictable,
and sustained growth and profitability for Natural
MicroSystems, as well as enhanced value for
our shareholders.

| am very proud to be part of Natural MicroSys-
tems and am thankful to all our people for the talent,
good humor, energy, and commitment they bring to
work every day. These are the ingredients of the
secret sauce that will make the year ahead one of
substantial growth, important industry contribution,
and value creation.

We are deeply appreciative of our customers’
support and their reliance on Natural MicroSystems
as a valued and essential strategic partner and we
are strongly committed to their continued success.

Finally we are grateful to you, our shareholders,
for investing in Natural MicroSystems. We welcome
your continued support as we move closer to fulfilling
our vision.

Sincerely,

(S el

Bob Schechter
Chairman, and CEO

Bob Schechter,
Chairman and CEO




Network Service Providers: the growing number of telephone, wireless, networking,
cable TV, computer, and Internet service companies now competing in the converging
communications marketplace

Communications Solutions Providers: the networking and communications original equipment
manufacturers (OEM), independent software vendors (ISV), value-added resellers (VAR), and
systems integrators who supply network service providers with the capabilities, components,
products, and services they need to serve their customers and stay competitive in the

New Network.

Natural MicroSystems: the technology leader enabling the world’s top networking and
communication equipment suppliers to create and accelerate New Network services
and infrastructure.

You're a network service provider. Deregulation has turned your industry into a free-for-all with
3,500 new telcos and more than 7,900 ISPs joining the fray—and more are on the way. Profits are being
squeezed while bandwidth and infrastructure costs are expanding. Voice and data networks are converging.
And everyone’s trying to teach the Internet new tricks. As they do, you find yourself going head-to-head
against the biggest names from both the voice and data sides of the business.

Like everyone else, you're trying to assemble —through in-house development,
outsourcing, and acquisition — the growing list of components, capabilities, applications, and services
you need to offer your customers a “total solution.” You have to ensure that these diverse elements are
integrated with each other. And you have to support them on every medium and device. From circuit-
switched to packet-switched networks. From cable to wireless. From phones to PDAs to computers.
Meanwhile, your customers are demanding ever higher service level guarantees in the New Network.

What do you do? You turn to your communications solutions provider. They're the
networking and communications equipment people you count on to develop the products and services
that comprise your competitive advantage.

And your communications solutions provider turns to Natural MicroSystems.



You're a communications solutions provider. And you need the essential enabling technologies
that Natural MicroSystems delivers. These are the hardware and software components without which a
networking or communications equipment supplier cannot build next-generation applications, services
or infrastructure. They work together and comprise everything essential to accelerate the development
and deployment of:

® [P (Internet-based) telephony systems

B Enhanced network services

B Wireless equipment and infrastructure

B Customer care centers and unified messaging systems

m Differentiated service provisioning for IP networks
Using Natural MicroSystems’ technologies and services, you can build next-generation applications,
products, and systems for the New Network. Highly scalable solutions that efficiently and cost effectively
transmit, manage, and meter voice, data, and fax over all networks —PSTN, public and private Internet,
and wireless. With Natural MicroSystems technology, you can even enable delivery of multiple and
differentiated services and applications over an IP network.

With the competitive stakes for your customers rising ever higher, you're under
increasing pressure to:

m Deliver new functionality fast

B Enable unlimited scalability

B Provide the highest reliability

B Ensure maximum manageability

m  Offer the best price/performance

And Natural MicroSystems is uniquely equipped to help you do it all.

You're Natural MicroSystems. And networking and communications solutions providers turn
to you because you have the broadest set of enabling technologies and services for the new
communications industry.

That's a critical advantage. Because, while the communications industry is characterized

by increasing consolidation and convergence, it is still largely a technological mosaic.



There are hundreds of vendors across the globe providing individual enabling technologies
and expertise to help communications solutions providers build their offerings. Each technology vendor
has particular strengths and weaknesses. Their level of expertise varies. Their ability to deliver on time
varies. The openness, interoperability, and performance of their technologies vary — as does the reliability,
manageability, cost, and scalability of those technologies.

And variability and complexity are two things today’s communications solutions
providers cannot afford.

But at Natural MicroSystems, as the technology leader, you've eliminated the variability and
complexity. You give them the technologies they need with more of the attributes they demand, such as:

B Openness —to accelerate development for the New Network

® High performance —to leapfrog the competition

m  Flexibility—to rapidly and efficiently evolve and update applications, services

and infrastructure

B Functionality and reliability —to support the rigorous requirements and service

level guarantees of premium PSTN and differentiated Internet services

® |nternational connectivity—to enable global market expansion

®  Comprehensive service provisioning technology —to enable rapid, reliable and

cost-effective deployment of differentiated IP services

B Multi-network support—to deploy applications and services across PSTN, Internet,

ATM, and wireless networks —throughout the New Network
At Natural MicroSystems, you've positioned yourselves as the technology leader, at the center of every
next-generation solution for the New Network. At the center of the communications solutions providers’
strategy. At the center of the network service providers’ competitive advantage. And at the center of

the communications industry and the New Network of tomorrow.
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The following are trademarks and trade names of the company indicated.
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Telecommunications, QWES, QWES.com and PolicyPoint are trademarks; Alliance Generation is a registered trademark;
and Natural MicroSystems is a trade name of the registrant. All other brand names or trademarks appearing in this Form
10-K are the property of their respective holders.

This Form 10-K, future filings of the registrant, press releases of the registrant and oral statements made with the approval
of an authorized executive officer of the registrant may contain forward-looking statements. In connection therewith, please
see the cautionary statements and risk factors contained in ltem 1, “Business - Forward-Looking Information” and
“Business - Risk Factors,” which identify important factors which could cause actual results to differ materially from those
in any such forward-looking statements.

References in this Form 10-K to the “Company,” the “registrant,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to Natural Microsystems
Corporation and its subsidiaries.
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PART |

ITEM 1
Business

OVERVIEW

We provide enabling technologies to the world's leading suppliers of networking and communications equipment. Our
customers incorporate our software and hardware products and technologies into their solutions in order to enable service
providers and enterprises to rapidly and cost-effectively deploy data, voice and fax applications and enhanced services in
converged networks.

Our products, which use technologies including digital signal processing, media processing, signal protocol processing,
switching and packet classification, are essential components in networking and communications equipment deployed in
the wireline and wireless Internet and PSTN. We also provide our customers with software development tools and systems
architecture and engineering design services. These products, tools and services facilitate the rapid creation and deploy-
ment of enhanced services and applications while conforming to the high quality, availability, scalability and manageability
required in service provider networks. Our products and technologies are compliant with open industry standards to
insure interoperability and compatibility, and leverage mass-market components, such as general purpose microproces-
sors, digital signal processors and operating system software. We use the term Open Communications to describe
products that share these characteristics.

Demand for our solutions arises from the explosive growth in data traffic coupled with the need of networking and
communications system vendors and service providers to bridge the gap between the IP network and the PSTN. In addi-
tion, deregulation and the emergence of new service providers, coupled with rapid technological changes and increasing
competition, has led these system vendors to purchase subsystems and enabling technologies from outside suppliers,
such as Natural MicroSystems. Our products and enabling technologies help our customers achieve a reduced time to
market and allow them to focus their development efforts on new service creation and next generation infrastructure.

Our products and solutions target applications in five market segments: IP telephony, differentiated IP service
provisioning, enhanced services, wireless network infrastructure and enterprise applications. We target original equipment
manufacturers, system suppliers and other strategic customers in these market segments and seek to provide them with
essential enabling components for their system offerings. To date, our solutions have been deployed in over 40 countries
and our customers include leading vendors such as Alcatel, Clarent, Comverse, Ericsson, Lucent, Motorola, Nortel,
Siemens and Teradyne.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

The networking and communications industries have experienced dynamic change and rapid growth over the past few
years. These changes have led to growing challenges for both service providers as well as networking and communica-
tions equipment vendors. These trends are expected to continue. The primary factors driving this change and growth
include those described below.

Explosive growth in data communications traffic. The increasing use of the Internet has led to an explosive growth in data
communications traffic. This growth has been fueled by the increasing number of users of the Internet, the increased use
of electronic mail, the transmission of multimedia content and the increased volume of information retrieved from the Inter-
net. According to International Data Corporation, the number of users of the Internet is expected to grow from 142 million
at the end of 1998 to 500 million in 2002. In addition, organizations are increasingly using the Internet to communicate with
customers and partners. These business-to-business e-commerce transactions are further contributing to the surge in
data traffic. This growth in data traffic is placing huge strains on the traditional PSTN, creating the need for new types of
networking equipment.

Service provider deregulation and competition. Global deregulation and rapid technological advances have resulted in the
emergence of many new communications service providers, thereby increasing competition within the communications
market, lowering prices and accelerating the development of innovative new services to attract and retain customers.

This environment is forcing service providers to differentiate themselves by offering new services. Many of these service
providers are using packet technologies to gain a competitive advantage through the lower cost of deployment, operation
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and expansion of networks and rapid implementation of these new services. IP telephony, differentiated IP service provi-
sioning, customer interaction center/web integration and unified messaging are examples of such services.

STRUCTURE AND EVOLUTION OF COMMUNICATIONS NETWORKS

Network components. There are three fundamental components of communications networks. The first component is the
medium over which the communications signal is transmitted, such as conventional copper wires, fiber optic cable or
radio waves. The second component is signaling, switching and other devices that create and manage the transmission
of signals. The third component is standards or protocols that provide agreed languages that permit the various signaling,
switching and other devices to communicate with one another. For example, the PSTN includes telephone lines, which
transmit signals incorporating both the sound or data being communicated and the signals that route and manage the
communication; telephones, switches, amplifiers and other devices that create, route, amplify and reproduce the signals;
and numerous industry and country protocols governing the transmission and routing of the signals and the management
of the network.

Principal public communications networks today include the PSTN and the Internet. Although each network is based on a
distinct architecture, both the PSTN and the Internet require sophisticated equipment to transmit, route and manage com-
munications and protocols that permit the equipment to communicate with other equipment between and within networks.

Convergence of voice and data. Historically, voice and data communications have been transmitted and managed on
separate networks, each with distinct technologies, standards and protocols. Traditional telephone systems require that a
dedicated connection, or circuit, be established and maintained for the duration of a call in order to transfer voice or data.
Dedicated connections result in the poor use of bandwidth since no traffic travels through the circuit when users are silent,
which can account for a significant amount of time during a transfer. IP networks differ fundamentally from circuit-switched
networks in that the packet network’s resources and infrastructure can be shared simultaneously by several users and
bandwidth can be flexibly allocated. Packet-based communications systems format the information to be transmitted, like
e-mail, voice, fax and data, into a series of shorter digital packages of information called “packets.” Each of these packets
is then transmitted over the network and is reassembled as a complete communication at the receiving end. IP networks
offer a number of advantages over circuit-switched networks. Rather than requiring a dedicated circuit for each individual
call, IP networks commingle packets of voice, fax and data from several communications sources on a single physical
link, providing superior utilization of network resources. Additionally, this integration of voice and data communications
makes possible an enrichment of services and an entire range of new, value-added applications.

Standards and protocols. IP and circuit-switched networks, deployed by service providers across multiple geographies,
rely on an array of standards and protocols for communicating information among switches and other devices. The PSTN
requires basic signaling software protocols such as

ISDN and SS7 in order to ensure that calls from one network to another are transmitted correctly. Similarly, the IP network
requires a set of standards and protocols to route information correctly. For example, these standards include H.323 for
the transmission of voice signals in an IP network. While these networks and protocols are distinct today, communications
equipment vendors are striving to build equipment that enables the interconnection and interoperability of the different net-
works, protocols and standards.

Interoperability. The evolution of the packet-based network combined with the extensively deployed circuit-switched net-
work creates the need for interoperability. Interoperable communications components can interconnect and work with both
circuit and packet networks. Complete interoperability of these networks presents significant challenges. The PSTN, which
consists of approximately 1.2 billion telephones worldwide, contains a large number of signaling protocol variants. The
Internet utilizes a small number of open protocols. Many of these are still being defined and implemented by standards
bodies and leading vendors. Interoperability requires the ability to execute all of the associated protocol variants, as well
as the ability to process the data from its source to its destination format.

MARKET NEEDS

The explosive increase in data traffic, heightened competition, the need for network interoperability and the emergence of
converged network infrastructures are causing service providers and enterprises to deploy new enhanced services and
applications in order to compete more effectively. In addition, the increasing use of packet networks, which must interoper-
ate with existing networks, requires network equipment and applications that can operate in both packet and circuit
networks. Service providers require that their packet networks have the high levels of quality, availability, scalability and
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manageability traditionally associated with circuit networks. Finally, the emerging packet networks can support completely
new enhanced services and applications, but only with new technologies such as traffic classification and bandwidth
management.

THE NATURAL MICROSYSTEMS SOLUTION

We provide enabling technologies to the world's leading suppliers of networking and communications equipment. Our
customers incorporate our software and hardware products and technologies into their solutions in order to enable
communications service providers and enterprises to rapidly and cost- effectively deploy data, voice and fax applications
and enhanced services in converged networks. Our products, which utilize technologies including digital signal
processing, media processing, signal protocol processing, switching, and packet classification, are essential components
in networking and communications equipment deployed in the wireline and wireless Internet and PSTN. We also provide
our customers with software development tools and systems architecture and engineering design services. These tools
and services facilitate the rapid creation and deployment of enhanced services and applications while conforming to the
high quality, availability, scalability and manageability required in service provider networks. Our products and technolo-
gies are compliant with open industry standards to insure interoperability and compatibility, and leverage mass-market
components, such as general purpose microprocessors, digital signal processors and operating system software.

Our products and services enable our customers to:

= Reduce time to market. Our products, technologies and services are designed to help reduce our customers’
product development cycles, enabling them to deliver their products to market more quickly, capture greater
market share and compete more effectively. Service providers and enterprises, in turn, can deploy enhanced
services and applications more quickly.

= Provide for network interoperability. Our knowledge of emerging Internet and established PSTN protocols facilitates
the deployment of our solutions across diverse networks. As new network deployments are increasingly IP-based,
our products allow connectivity and interoperability with the PSTN. Our customers rely on us to assist them in the
deployment of their products in networks worldwide.

= Meet carrier class requirements. Our products are designed to deliver the high quality, availability, reliability,
scalability and manageability required in service provider networks. These, combined with our solutions for network
interoperability, enable the deployment and scaling of enhanced services and applications across diverse network
infrastructures. We provide an easy-to-use open development environment that allows our customers to develop
differentiated systems and solutions for the converged network. In addition, this capability facilitates upgrades and
enhancements to deployed network systems, reducing the life-cycle cost of ownership.

= Create and deploy enhanced services. We provide the foundation for the creation and deployment of enhanced
services, such as unified messaging, in both the IP network and the PSTN environments. Our products and
technologies enable the delivery of differentiated packet services, including service provisioning and traffic
classification based on application type and per-flow metering. This capability enables equipment vendors,
service providers and enterprises to build new classes of enhanced services and applications.

STRATEGY

Our objective is to be the leading provider of enabling technologies to the premier networking and communications
systems original equipment manufacturers addressing converged network solutions. The following are key elements
of our strategy:

Focus on high growth market segments. We believe that our technologies, products and services are critical to
several high growth market segments. We focus our technology, sales and marketing resources on the following
five market segments:
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Examples of Applications

Market Segment Existing Emerging
IP telephony IP voice gateways IP media servers
Differentiated IP Internet access Guaranteed service levels
service provisioning for voice and e-commerce
Enhanced services Prepaid and debit card Unified messaging

calling services
Wireless network Analog cellular services Wireless Internet
infrastructure
Enterprise applications Voicemail Customer interaction

centers/web integration

Extend our technology leadership. We invest heavily in developing enabling technologies that are essential to providing
high performance voice, data and fax transmission over and connectivity to both packet and circuit networks. We provide
products and technologies essential to the creation and deployment of enhanced services on converged networks. We
have assembled a team of approximately 250 engineers and technical personnel who are currently dedicated to this mar-
ket. Over our 17 years of experience, we have developed significant expertise in digital signal processing software, media
stream protocol processing, global network interface and protocol technologies and a comprehensive software develop-
ment environment. We intend to continue to invest in our technological expertise through in-house development and
strategic acquisitions.

Strengthen and expand relationships with strategic customers. Our strategy is to establish and maintain long term working
relationships and to sell our products and services to leading original equipment manufacturers in the networking and
communications industries. We dedicate over 130 sales and technical services personnel to approximately 100 network-
ing and communications systems vendors worldwide. We also target emerging companies addressing high growth
markets. We use indirect channel partners to reach a broader market. By focusing on leading equipment manufacturers
with large volume potential, we believe that we reach the largest portion of our potential customer base while minimizing
the costs and complexity of our marketing efforts. These customer relationships also provide us with multiple sales oppor-
tunities across our customers’ product lines. We work closely with our customers to design our software and hardware
solutions into their products and use consulting and support services to facilitate and reinforce these relationships. By
working with leading customers early in their product design and development stages, we gain valuable insights into
future industry requirements and trends.

Broaden our product offering. We believe that breadth of product line is one of the principal attributes that equipment man-
ufacturers consider in selecting suppliers of enabling technology. We offer a broad selection of enabling technologies for
networking and communications equipment vendors, and we intend to continue to broaden our product offering. For
example, in December 1999 we acquired QWES.com, Inc., the developer of PolicyPoint, an enabling technology for differ-
entiated packet-based services. Our strategy is to continue to expand our product offerings, both by internal development
and acquisitions.

Support open architecture and drive evolving standards. We will continue to support open architectures, allowing develop-
ers of high performance, high value applications to utilize standards-based products or components. This will in turn
reduce development time and enable customers to take advantage of advances made in complementary technologies.
Our products are accessible to developers and allow them, through the use of our software development environment, to
develop software and algorithms for their products. We have a record of developing and promoting open industry stan-
dards and intend to continue our leadership role.

Strengthen customer relationships through consulting and support services. Our consulting and support services extend
from initial product conception and design through implementation, field trial and deployment. These fee-based service
relationships increase our visibility to our customers and facilitate the design-in process while providing us with insight into
future market requirements.
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PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

The principal functions addressed by our products include connectivity to communications networks, call processing,
real-time media processing, and media stream protocol processing. These capabilities are accessed through a series of
application programming interfaces that expose the hardware and firmware functions to the developer for the purpose of
creating an application or system.

Our products are developed for global markets and allow customers to integrate their applications and systems into the IP
network and the PSTN. Our products are compatible with signaling protocols and are approved for use in many countries.
In order to have a presence in the fastest growing and largest international markets, we use our technological expertise,
open architecture, and familiarity with international regulatory requirements to obtain the approvals required for use of

our products in principal foreign markets. Our products have been incorporated into products sold to end users in

over 40 countries.

Our products are open, accessible, standards-based, layered, network protocol- and operating system-independent,
modular and scalable. These features offer developers significant reduction in time and effort when developing sophisti-
cated applications and systems.

Convergence Generation. The Convergence Generation product family, currently in field trials, consists of software and
hardware components configured specifically for convergence-centric systems and applications. This product family is
designed for an Intel StrongARM co-processor and Texas Instruments (TI) C54x family of digital signal processors. We
believe the architecture is extensible to hundreds of ports per slot and capable of integrating high- density IP network and
PSTN interfaces including T3 and OC-3. We believe this product family offers the best price performance for converged
network solutions such as IP telephony gateways and IP media servers.

PolicyPoint. The PolicyPoint product family, currently in field trials, consists of software and hardware components that pro-
vide reliable, cost- effective, predictable and consistent transport of voice, video and data over packet networks. The
product family is designed for the TI Céx family of digital signal processors and does not require a host processor. It pro-
vides connectivity to any ATM WAN while controlling network and application specific usage and performance. The
PolicyPoint architecture offers a soft-ASIC capability that allows for the integration of additional WAN protocols including
frame relay, point-to-point protocol, multi-protocol label switching and differentiated services. We believe the architecture is
extensible to higher density LAN and WAN interfaces. We believe PolicyPoint's architecture delivers a compelling price
performance advantage.

Alliance Generation. The Alliance Generation is a proven product line with a field history of over eight years. It consists of
software and hardware components configured to meet the needs of enterprise and enhanced services applications for

circuit-switched environments. This product family is designed for an Intel x86 co-processor and Tl C51 or Tl C549 fami-
lies of digital signal processors. The port densities offered range from 2 to 120 ports per slot and the Alliance Generation
product line is differentiated from competition due to its unique extensibility. The product family enables systems to maxi-
mize resources, thereby reducing costs.

Intelligent Networks/SS7. The Intelligent Networks/SS7 product family consists of software and hardware components that
provide a complete suite of intelligent networking protocols for PSTN connectivity. The product family is designed for the
Motorola 68xxx family of processors. It allows for a full implementation of the SS7 protocol stack with access at all layers
and contains a set of switch-specific and high availability extensions that meet service provider requirements and facilitate
worldwide deployment and interoperability.

Natural Access Software. The Natural Access Software suite consists of CT Access with Natural Call Control, NaturalFax,
ActiveAG, TAPI support, ISDN, Channel Associated Signaling and high availability extensions. This suite was designed as
the development and run-time environment for the Alliance and Convergence Generation product families and provides
for the rapid development of high performance, scalable applications. Natural Access allows developers, working with
common programming languages and different programming models, independent of host platforms and operating sys-
tems, to implement applications and systems requiring communications functionality.
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The following table depicts our product families, capabilities and benefits: Natural MicroSystems Products

Product Family: Convergence Generation

Capabilities Benefits
Hardware Platform Specific: Software Specific: = Provides interoperability circuit
= Integrated PSTN and IP = Programmable media and packet-switched networks
network interfaces with streaming - Flexible media streaming supports
= Media stream protocol processing = SNMP support new converged enhanced services

(flexible packet processing)
=Jitter buffer management
~Low latency = Hosting environment for

speech technologies

= Hot-swap drivers

Digital Signal Processing

-Echo cancellation = Media Support
-Vocoding -Play/record
—Fax —Transcoding
—Conferencing

PSTN Interface
-Worldwide signaling
ISDN
Channel associated signaling

IP Interface
-Ethernet

Low power consumption

Low host-processor utilization

Product Family: Policy Point

Integrates into carrier
grade solutions

Maximizes system
price performance

Optimized platform for speech
recognition and text-to-speech
applications

Capabilities Benefits
Hardware Platform Specific: Software Specific: = Enables service level guarantees for
« Integrated LAN and WAN network = Bandwidth shaping applications of premium IP services
interfaces -Wirespeed packet differentiated . -
o = Integrates with existing management
classification
= WAN Interface i e systems
TUEL -Fine granularity discrimination

- -LAN to WAN bandwidth = Lowers deployment and maintenance
= LAN Interface manage ent and bounds delay costs

-10/100-BaseT Ethernet —Per flow metering
= Standalone operation = Remote management

—SNMP support
-Web-based provisioning
-In-field software upgrades

= Integrated CSU/DSU

= Routing support

= Software programmable WAN protocol
-ATM




Product Family: Alliance Generation

Natural MicroSystems Corporation

Capabilities

Benefits

Hardware Platform Specific:
= Digital Signal Processing
—Echo cancellation
-Vocoding
—Fax
—Conferencing

PSTN Interface
-Worldwide signaling

= ISDN

Channel associated signaling

Analog interfaces

Station interfaces

Low power consumption

Low host-processor utilization

Software Specific:
= SNMP support

= Hot-swap drivers

= Hosting environment for speech
technologies

= Media support
—Play/record
—Transcoding

Product Family: Intelligent Networks/SS7

Allows for PBX integration

Provides interoperability with circuit-
switched networks worldwide

Integrates into carrier grade solutions

= Maximizes system price performance

Optimized platform for speech recogni
tion and text-to-speech applications

Capabilities

Benefits

Hardware Platform Specific:

= Hardware Platform Specific:

= PSTN Interface
-T1/E1
-\.35
-10-BaseT Ethernet

Software Specific:
= Multiple layers
-MTP1-3
-SCCP
-TCAP
-TUP

= Fully redundant

= 4-16 Links

Product Family: Natural Access Software

Programmability allows wireless network
components to interact with PSTN

Facilitates the creation of enhanced
services platforms and applications

Hardware implementation enables host to
operated independently

Development environment allows for
operational compatibility

Simplifies development of switching and
call processing applications

Simplifies development of extensions to
deployed systems

Capabilities

Benefits

Hardware Platform Specific:

= Software development environment
= Alliance Generation

= Convergence Generation

= Windows NT

= SPARC Solaris

= Unixware

Software Specific:

Features:

= Natural call control

= Access to global signaling protocols
= High availability and manageability
= Point-to-point switching

= Configuration and installation

Development environment allows
for operational compatibility

Simplifies development of switching and
call processing applications

Simplifies development of extensions to
deployed systems
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Fusion. In addition, we market Fusion, a branded package incorporating several of our products. It is a scalable, high per-
formance development platform for standards-based IP telephony solutions. Fusion provides a software development
environment designed specifically for the creation of IP telephony gateway solutions. Fusion’s modular architecture allows
support for existing protocols such as the International Telecommunication Union’s H.323 specification and a growing list
of emerging protocols like Media Gateway Control Protocol (MGCP) and Session Initiation Protocol. Fusion enables devel-
opers to create application solutions with configurations from four analog ports to multiple T1s/E1s with no increase in
latency or decrease in performance.

Services and Customer Support. To complement our hardware and software products, we also offer consulting and sup-
port services. Our NaturalEdge Engineering Consulting Services include:

= Systems architecture and engineering services that assist customers with all facets of product development, from
concept definition to feasibility analysis to functional specifications;

= Design consulting services that create working prototypes and provide a range of engineering services, including
specifications and detailed project plans; and

= Development and integration services that help customers develop value- added product features, extend product
functionality, or migrate to newer technology while protecting investments in existing offerings.

= In addition, as part of our NaturalEdge Global Support, we offer a variety of support programs ranging from
NaturalEdge Web Support to Global On-Call Support, which provides support 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

TECHNOLOGY

We offer high performance software and hardware component technologies for converged network solutions such as
communications gateways and enhanced service platforms for IP, ATM, wireless and wireline communications networks.
Our technology components include a flexible software architecture that allows our technology to be readily adopted by
major communications equipment suppliers. Our technology is engineered to provide telecommunications quality and
availability while leveraging the broad capabilities of mass-market computer platforms. Our software technology is avail-
able on board-level products for open computing platforms or as hardware reference designs for embedded applications
and systems. To facilitate the development of specific solutions, we provide sample applications and demonstration pro-
grams. Our architecture includes software and hardware reference designs, as well as hardware and firmware
implementations of these core technologies:

= Digital signal processing software and related compute engines. We base our solutions on high performance
commercial digital signal processors integrated with proprietary technology to provide high density, scalable signal
processing arrays.

= Media stream protocol processing. Our high performance packet processing digital signal processor firmware
technology allows for the efficient support of media streams on IP and other packet networks and enhanced
services platforms for packet networks.

= Global network interfaces and protocol technology. We offer many of the commonly used digital and analog
telephony interfaces as well as Ethernet and T1/E1 WAN data interfaces. Our PSTN protocol technologies include
all major channel-associated signaling variants and ISDN and SS7 signaling, as well as leading Voice-over-IP call
control protocols such as H.323 and MGCP. Our interface and protocol technology allows us to rapidly obtain
interoperability and approvals for new products in all major markets, and to efficiently respond to our customers’
requirements for public network connections and approvals in other markets.

= Telecommunications switching technology. Our Natural Call Control call management software and our efficient
hardware implementation of industry standard CTBus interfaces combine to provide an extremely flexible, scalable
and cost-effective platform for telecommunications switching.

= Packet classification and queuing for differentiated IP servicing provisioning. Our packet classification and queuing
technology supports differentiated quality of IP services using ATM and other wide area network protocols. The
proprietary digital signal processor-based technology provides wire speed performance levels with the flexibility of
a software-only approach.

= Flexible, high performance communications software and systems architecture. Our high performance software
architecture minimizes the computational load on the host processors, freeing system resources for the use of our
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customers’ applications while providing the highest possible capacity on any specific computing platform.
The flexibility of our programming interface supports diverse customer software models and simplifies our
customers’ development efforts.

= Carrier class high availability technology. We deliver hot-swap enabled CompactPCI products and have
established an industry leading software infrastructure to support carrier class deployments. We offer systems level
software that extends system availability during component failures, system maintenance and upgrades.

CUSTOMERS AND MARKET SEGMENTS
Our customers are primarily leading original equipment manufacturers. Our customers also include system integrators,
communications service providers and international distributors in the networking and communications equipment industry.

The table below is a representative list of our customers within each market segment, together with examples of applications
in each segment. Each of these customers purchased at least $500,000 of our products and services in 1999.

Market Segment
Differentiated IP Wireless Network Enterprise
IP Telephony Service Provisioning Enhanced Services Infastructure Applications
g
] g = Clarent = Clarent = Centigram = Ericsson = Alcatel
|5 € | = Lucent = Converse = Motorola = Aspect Communications
8% | = Nortel « Mitel
§U * Siemens « Teradyne
) = Unified Messaging = Modular wireless = Customer interaction
0 = Programmable = Bandwidth ;
5 f . iling/ base stations centers
£ gateways for carriers Management = Billing/Payment -
Q . . = Wireless data = Messaging
3 = Enterprise = Voice-over IP = One number/
g communications “follow me” = Mobile Switching = Interactive voice
5 servers . centers response
o = Internet call waiting
= = Emerging gateway = Wireless local loop
E ” = E-commerce
g opportunities such enablers
- as cable and DSL

SALES AND MARKETING
We focus our sales and marketing efforts on selling directly to approximately 100 leading suppliers of networking and
communications systems. Customers targeted in our direct sales efforts are divided into three groups:

= Strategic accounts, including large, multinational companies with multiple products, such as Lucent and Ericsson,
each of which is served by a dedicated account team;

= Major accounts, including original equipment manufacturers with discrete product lines; and
= Emerging accounts, including new entrants in high-growth markets.

We intend to serve all other customers and prospects through indirect sales- channel partners. This focus allows us to use
our resources on customers that offer us the largest revenue opportunities.

Our sales and marketing organization consists of 90 employees in 18 sales offices worldwide, of which 9 are in the United
States, 5 are in Europe and 4 are in Asia. During 1999, 27.4% of our revenues were from sales and services to customers
based outside North America.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We believe that the extension and enhancement of existing products, the development of new products and the support
of joint product development activities are critical to our future success. During 1999, we spent $24.7 million, or 31% of our
revenues, on research and development.
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Our current research and development is conducted by 166 employees located at our headquarters in Framingham,
Massachusetts, and at our offices in Schaumburg, lllinois, Tustin, California and Le Plessis Robinson, France. Our current
research and development is focused on developing emerging, high growth technologies, such as IP traffic management,
IP telephony, SS7/IP network integration and wireless/IP network integration. Our product development investment is
focused on bringing these technologies to market and on increasing scalability and performance, providing high availabil-
ity through CompactPClI, hot swap and related technologies, and enhancing our software development environment to
facilitate shorter development cycles for our customers and partners.

MANUFACTURING
We outsource assembly of specific printed circuit boards to three ISO 9002 certified contract manufacturers, each of
which is our sole source for the products it manufactures.

We perform quality control and final testing of completed products at our Framingham facility, for which we received ISO
9002 certification in 1996. Since then, we have participated in all required processes and audits required to maintain this
certification. The British Approvals Board for Telecommunications conducted its most recent audit in November 1999 and
found no nonconformity.

We seek to use industry-standard components for our products. Many of these components are generally available from
multiple sources. However, we acquire certain custom integrated circuits and other devices which are components on one
or more of our products from single-source suppliers. Although we believe we could develop other sources for each of
these custom devices, the process could take several months.

COMPETITION

The market for our products is highly competitive. We have many competitors whose products compete with one or

more of our products. We may also compete with our existing and potential customers’ in-house development teams.
Examples of our current competitors include the Dialogic division of Intel Corporation, AudioCodes Ltd., Radisys Corpora-
tion and Brooktrout Technology, Inc. Some of our competitors may have greater resources than we have. As we enter new
markets, we expect to encounter competition from additional competitors, some of which may also have greater resources
than we do.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

Our success depends on proprietary technology and know-how. We rely primarily on a combination of copyrights and
restrictions on access to our trade secrets to protect our proprietary rights. In addition, we have applications pending on
17 patents and have received a notice of allowance on one patent, which we expect to issue shortly. We distribute our
software products under license agreements which grant customers a nonexclusive license to use the software and con-
tain certain terms and conditions prohibiting its unauthorized reproduction or transfer. We enter into confidentiality
agreements with our suppliers and customers when we disclose proprietary information to them. In addition, we enter into
confidentiality agreements and assignment of invention agreements with our employees and consultants. We believe that
our products and technology do not infringe on any existing proprietary rights of others.

Despite these precautions, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy aspects of our products or to obtain
information that we regard as proprietary. We believe that, due to the rapid pace of innovation within the industry in which
we participate, factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel and ongoing reliable product mainte-
nance and support are more important in establishing and maintaining a leadership position within the industry than are
the various legal protections for our technologies.

We depend on development, supply, marketing, licensing and other relationships with companies for complementary
technologies necessary for us to offer a broad range of products. These relationships are generally nonexclusive, run for a
finite term and are renewable with the consent of both parties.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 1999, we had 399 full-time employees, including 62 in sales, 28 in marketing, 166 in research and
development, 59 in services, 38 in operations and 46 in administration and finance. None of the employees is represented
by a labor union. We have never experienced a work stoppage and consider our relations with our employees to be good.
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This prospectus includes and incorporates forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties and
fall within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. You can identify these forward-looking statements by our use of the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“expects,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “intends,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue” and similar expressions, whether
in the negative or affirmative. We cannot guarantee that we actually will achieve these plans, intentions or expectations.
Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking
statements we make. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those dis-
cussed in “Risk Factors,” beginning on page 13, as well as other risks and uncertainties referenced in this prospectus. We
do not assume any obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this prospectus to conform
these statements to actual results.

RISK FACTORS

We have experienced recent operating losses and may not return to profitability.

We experienced operating losses in the last three quarters of 1998 and all four quarters of 1999. As a result, for the years
ended December 31, 1998 and 1999, we reported operating losses of approximately $10.0 million and $16.6 million,
respectively. We expect to continue to increase our levels of research and development and sales and marketing expendi-
tures, and therefore we will achieve profitability only if we can significantly increase our revenues. We currently anticipate
that our results will be no better than approximately break-even until at the earliest the second half of 2000. If our revenues
do not meet the levels that we anticipate, or if our costs and expenses exceed our expectations, we will continue to sus-
tain losses and the price of our common stock may decline substantially. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be
able to sustain it on a quarterly or annual basis.

Our operating results fluctuate and are difficult to predict, which could cause our stock price to decline.
Our revenues and net income, if any, in any particular period may be lower than revenues and net income, if any, in a pre-
ceding or comparable period. Factors contributing to these fluctuations, some of which are beyond our control, include:

= fluctuations in our customers’ businesses;

= demands for our customers’ products incorporating our products;

= timing and market acceptance of new products or enhancements introduced by us or our competitors;
= availability of components from our suppliers and the manufacturing capacity of our subcontractors;

= timing and level of expenditures for sales, marketing and product development; and

= changes in the prices of our products or of our competitors’ products.

In addition, we have historically operated with less than one quarter's worth of backlog and a customer order pattern that
is skewed toward the later weeks of the quarter. In recent quarters, we have received orders more evenly throughout the
quarter, but we cannot be sure that this will continue in the future. Any significant deferral of orders for our products would
cause a shortfall in revenue for the quarter. If our quarterly revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of
investors or public market analysts, our common stock price may decline substantially.

Internal development efforts by our customers may adversely affect demand for our products.

Many of our customers, including the large equipment manufacturers on which we focus a significant portion of our sales
and marketing efforts, have the technical and financial ability to design and produce components replicating or improving
on the functionality of most of our products. These organizations often consider in-house development of technologies and
products as an alternative to doing business with us. We cannot be certain that these customers will resolve these “make-
buy” decisions in favor of working with us, rather than attempting to develop similar technology and products internally or
obtaining them through acquisition.

The markets we serve are highly competitive, and we may be unable to compete effectively.

Competition in the high growth markets that we target for our products is intense, and we expect it to intensify as current
competitors expand their product offerings and new competitors enter the market. Although competition in many of our
markets is highly fragmented, our current competitors include Dialogic Corp., a wholly owned subsidiary of Intel Corpora-
tion, AudioCodes Ltd., Radisys Corporation and Brooktrout Technology, Inc. Other companies, including original
equipment manufacturers that are current or targeted customers, may enter our markets in the future. Our competitors and
customers may be able to develop products and services that are superior to our products and services, that achieve
greater customer acceptance or that have significantly improved functionality as compared to our existing and future
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products and services. In particular, by focusing all of their efforts on a specific niche of the market, some of our competi-
tors may succeed in introducing products that change the competitive dynamic in that market niche and adversely affect
demand for our products. Certain of our competitors may be able to negotiate alliances with strategic partners on more
favorable terms than we are able to negotiate. Many of our competitors have well-established relationships with our exist-
ing and prospective customers, including those on which we have focused significant sales and marketing efforts.

We rely on third parties to assemble our products.

We do not have in-house manufacturing capabilities and currently rely on three different third-party contract manufacturers
to assemble our printed circuit boards and other product offerings. Each of these manufacturers is our sole source for the
products it manufactures for us. This reliance could subject us to product shortages or quality assurance problems, which,
in turn, could lead to an increase in the cost of manufacturing or assembling our products. Any problems that occur and
persist in connection with the delivery, quality or cost of the assembly of our products could affect our ability to ship prod-
uct and recognize revenue, harm our relationship with our customers and harm our business.

We depend on sole source suppliers for certain components used in our products.

We rely on vendors to supply components for our products, and we rely on sole source suppliers for certain custom inte-
grated circuits and other devices that are components of one or more of our products. In particular, Texas Instruments is
our sole source for the digital signal processors used in many of our products and customarily requires order lead times of
20 to 22 weeks or more to insure delivery in desired quantities. In addition, Lucent is our sole source supplier for integrat-
ed circuit components used in many of our products and customarily requires order lead times of 16 weeks or more. An
interruption in supply from either Texas Instruments or Lucent would disrupt production, thereby adversely affecting our
ability to deliver products to our customers. Converting to an alternative source for key components could require a large
investment in capital and manpower resources and might cause significant delays in introducing replacement products.
Although we believe we could identify alternative sources for all of our components, that process could take several
months, and any interruption in our supplies could harm our business.

We do not obtain binding purchase commitments from our customers and rely on projections prepared by our

customers in assessing future demand for our products.

Our “design wins” are solely an expression of interest by customers and are not supported by purchase obligations.
Therefore, there can be no assurance that any “design win” will result in purchase orders for our products. After we begin
receiving initial orders for a product from a customer, we rely heavily on the customer’s projections as to future needs for
our product, without having any binding commitment from the customer as to future orders. Because our expenses are
based on forecasting of future orders, a substantial reduction or delay in orders for our products from our customers could
harm our business.

Our products typically have long sales cycles, causing us to expend significant resources before achieving

“design wins” and recognizing revenue.

The length of our sales cycle typically ranges from six to eighteen months and varies substantially from customer to cus-
tomer. Prospective customers generally must commit significant resources to test and evaluate our products and integrate
them into larger systems. This evaluation period is often prolonged due to delays associated with approval processes that
typically accompany the design and testing of new communications equipment by our customers. In addition, the rapidly
emerging and evolving nature of the markets in which we and our customers compete may cause prospective customers
to delay their purchase decisions as they evaluate new technologies and develop and implement new systems. During
the period in which our customers are evaluating whether to place an order with us, we often incur substantial sales and
marketing expenses, without any assurance of future orders or their timing. Even after we achieve a “design win” and our
product is expected to be utilized in a product or service offering being developed by our customer, the timing of the
development, introduction and implementation of those products is controlled by, and can vary significantly with the needs
of, our customers and may exceed several months. This complicates our planning processes and reduces the predictabil-
ity of our earnings. If sales forecasted from a specific customer for a particular quarter are not realized in that quarter, we
may fail to achieve our revenue goals.

The average selling prices of our products may decrease, which could adversely affect gross margins and revenues.
Competitive pressures and rapid technological change may cause erosion of the average selling prices of our products
and services. For example, the toll bypass segment of the Internet telephony market in which we compete has experi-
enced a rapid and substantial decline in average product selling prices during the last year. In addition, as many of our
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target customers are large original equipment manufacturers with significant market power, we may face pressure from
them for steep discounts in our pricing. Any significant erosion in our average selling prices could impact our gross mar-
gins and harm our business.

Our revenue growth depends significantly on the timely development and launch of new products and product
enhancements, and we cannot be sure that our new products will gain wide market acceptance.

The communications equipment and services market is characterized by rapid technological change, which requires con-
tinual development and introduction of new products and product enhancements that respond to evolving market needs
and industry standards on a timely and cost-effective basis. Successfully developing new products requires us to accu-
rately anticipate technological evolution in the communications industry as well as the technical and design needs of our
customers. In addition, new product development and launch require significant commitments of capital and personnel.
Failure to successfully update and enhance current products and to develop and launch new products would harm our
business.

We have experienced, and may in the future experience, delays in developing and releasing new products

and product enhancements.

These delays have led to, and may in the future lead to, delayed sales, increased expenses and lower quarterly revenue
than anticipated. During the development of our products, we have also experienced delays in the prototyping of our digi-
tal signal processing chips, which in turn have led to delays in product introductions. Our failure to timely introduce a new
product or product enhancement could harm our reputation with our customers or reduce demand for that product, which
could harm our business.

We may acquire other businesses or technologies; if we do, we may be unable to integrate them with our business

or our financial performance may suffer.

If appropriate opportunities present themselves, we may acquire businesses, technologies, services or products that we
believe are strategic. We do not currently have any understandings, commitments or agreements with respect to any
acquisition, nor are we currently pursuing any acquisition. We may not be able to identify, negotiate or finance any future
acquisition successfully. Even if we do succeed in acquiring a business, technology, service or product, the process of
integration may produce unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures and may absorb significant attention of our
management that would otherwise be available for the ongoing development of our business. If we make future acquisi-
tions, we may issue shares of stock that dilute other stockholders, incur debt, assume contingent liabilities or create
additional expenses related to amortizing goodwill and other intangible assets, any of which might harm our financial
results and cause our stock price to decline. Any financing that we might need for future acquisitions may only be avail-
able to us on terms that restrict our business or that impose on us costs that reduce our net income.

We may be unable to attract and retain management and other key personnel we need to succeed.

The loss of any of our senior management or other key research, development, sales and marketing personnel, particular-
ly if lost to competitors, could harm our business. Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to attract,
retain and motivate highly skilled employees.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which may facilitate the development of

competing products by others.

We rely on a combination of copyright and trade secret laws, restrictions on disclosure and patents to protect our intellec-
tual property rights. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or
otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. The laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary
rights to as great an extent as the laws of the United States. If we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights,
it will be easier for our competitors to sell competing products.

Our products may infringe on the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may result in lawsuits and prohibit

us from selling our products.

There is a risk that third parties have filed, or will file applications for, or have received or will receive, patents or obtain
additional intellectual property rights relating to materials or processes that we use or propose to use. As a result, from
time to time, third parties may assert exclusive patent or other intellectual property rights to technologies that are important
to us. In addition, third parties may assert claims or initiate litigation against us or our manufacturers, suppliers or cus-
tomers with respect to existing or future products or other proprietary rights. Any claims against us or customers that we
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indemnify against intellectual property claims, with or without merit, may be time-consuming, result in costly litigation and
diversion of technical and management personnel or require us to develop non-infringing technology. If a claim is suc-
cessful, we may be required to obtain a license or royalty agreement under the intellectual property rights of those parties
claiming the infringement. If we are unable to obtain the license, we may be unable to market our affected products. Limi-
tations on our ability to market our products and delays and costs associated with monetary damages and redesigns in
compliance with an adverse judgment or settlement could harm our business.

Our products depend upon the continued availability of licensed technology from third parties.

We currently license and will continue to license certain technology integral to our products and services, such as proto-
cols, from third parties. While we believe that much of this technology is available from multiple sources, any difficulties in
acquiring third-party technology licenses, or in integrating the related third-party technology into our products, could result
in delays in product development or upgrade until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed and integrated. We
may require new licenses in the future as our business grows and technology evolves. We cannot assure you that these
licenses will continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

The ongoing evolution of industry standards may adversely affect demand for our products and increase our costs.

Our success depends on both the evolution of industry standards for new technologies and our products’ compatibility
with multiple industry standards. Many technological developments occur prior to the adoption of the related industry
standard. The absence of an industry standard related to a specific technology may prevent market acceptance of prod-
ucts using that technology, or may result in the development of products not compatible with ultimately adopted
standards, which would limit demand for our products. We intend to develop products compatible with other technological
advancements and may develop these products prior to the adoption of industry standards related to these technologies.
As a result, we may incur significant expenses and losses due to lack of customer demand, unusable purchased compo-
nents for these products and the diversion of our engineers from future product development efforts. Further, we may
develop products that do not comply with the eventual industry standard, which could limit our ability to sell these prod-
ucts. If the industry develops new standards, we may not be able to design and manufacture new products in a timely
fashion that meet these new standards. Even after the adoption of industry standards, the future success of our products
depends on widespread market acceptance of their underlying technologies.

Defects in our products or problems arising from the use of our products together with other vendors’ products

may seriously harm our business and reputation.

Products as complex as ours may contain known and undetected errors or performance problems. Defects are frequently
found during the period immediately following introduction and initial implementation of new products or enhancements to
existing products. Although we attempt to resolve all errors that we believe would be considered serious by our customers
before implementation, our products are not error-free. These errors or performance problems could result in lost revenues
or customer relationships and could be detrimental to our business and reputation generally. Additionally, reduced market
acceptance of our services due to errors or defects in our technology would harm our business by reducing our revenues
and damaging our reputation. In some of our contracts, we have agreed to indemnify our customers against certain liabili-
ties arising from defects in our products, but we do not carry insurance policies covering this type of liability. In addition,
our customers generally use our products together with their own products and products from other vendors. As a result,
when problems occur in the network, it may be difficult to identify the source of the problem. These problems may cause
us to incur significant warranty and repair costs, divert the attention of our engineering personnel from our product devel-
opment efforts and cause significant customer relations problems. To date, defects in our products or those of other
vendors’ products with which ours are used by our customers have not had a material negative effect on our business.
However, we cannot be certain that a material negative effect will not occur in the future.

Because we derive a significant portion of our revenues from international sales, we are susceptible to currency

fluctuations and other risks.

Sales to customers outside North America accounted for approximately 27% of our revenues in 1999, and we believe a
material portion of our domestic sales results in the use of our products outside North America. Since customers generally
evaluate our purchase price as expressed in their own currency, changes in foreign currency exchange rates may hurt
our sales in other countries. In addition, some of our sales transactions are denominated in local currency and we do not
mitigate the currency risk by engaging in currency-hedging transactions. An increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative
to foreign currencies could make our products less competitive on a price basis in international markets or adversely
impact the U.S. dollar yield from sales transactions denominated in local currency.
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Other risks arising from our international business include political instability or recessions in other countries, the imposition
of trade and tariff regulations by foreign governments and the difficulties in managing operations across disparate geo-
graphic areas. These or other factors may limit our ability to sell our products and services in other countries.

The market segments we target may not develop as rapidly as we anticipate.

We operate in five segments of the networking and communications market: IP telephony, differentiated IP service provi-
sioning, enhanced services, wireless network infrastructure and enterprise applications. Although we expect growth in
these areas, each of these market segments is emerging, undergoing rapid change or both and may fail to generate
demand for our products at the levels we anticipate, which could limit our future revenues and harm our business.

Future regulation or legislation could restrict our business or increase our costs.

We are unable to predict the impact, if any, that future legislation, legal decisions or regulations relating to our target mar-
ket segments may have on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Regulation may focus on, among
other things, assessing access or settlement charges, or imposing tariffs or regulations based on the characteristics and
quality of products and services, either of which could restrict our business or increase our cost of doing business. For
example, the Federal Communications Commission is currently examining the question of whether certain forms of tele-
phone services over the Internet should be subject to FCC regulations as telecommunications services. If the FCC were to
determine that Internet telephony providers, or the services they provide, are subject to FCC regulations, then some of the
service providers that buy equipment from our customers may be forced to pay access charges and make universal serv-
ice contributions. This could have a material adverse effect on those customers’ business and competitive position and
could therefore force them to limit or cut-off their purchases of our products.

Anti-takeover provisions in Delaware law and our corporate documents may affect the value of our common stock.
Provisions in Delaware law and our corporate documents may make it difficult and expensive for a third party to acquire
us. For example, our certificate of incorporation provides for the election of members to our board of directors for stag-
gered three-year terms. In addition, we have adopted a shareholder rights plan. The existence of these anti-takeover
provisions may substantially impede the ability of a third party to acquire control of us or accumulate large blocks of our
common stock, which may adversely affect our stock price.

ITEM 2

Properties

We lease a facility totaling approximately 100,000 square feet for our corporate headquarters in Framingham,
Massachusetts. The lease on this facility expires in May 2012.

We also lease facilities in Le Plessis Robinson, France, Schaumburg, lllinois and Tustin, California in which we
conduct design and engineering operations. The Le Plessis Robinson office also serves as our European sales and
service headquarters.

In addition, we have short-term leases for 15 sales offices throughout North America, Europe and Asia. We believe our
facilities are adequate for our current needs and that we will be able to secure suitable space as needed in the future.

ITEM 3

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are a party to various legal proceedings incidental to our business. We have no material legal
proceedings currently pending.

ITEM 4

Submission of Matters to a VVote of Securities Holders
None.
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PART Il

ITEM 5
Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “NMSS.” The following table shows
the high and low closing sale prices per share of our common stock, as reported on the Nasdaqg National Market, for
the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31, 1998: High Low
First Quarter $46.94 $34.31
Second Quarter 38.37 16.00
Third Quarter 14.75 9.50
Fourth Quarter 12.56 6.19

Year Ended December 31, 1999:

First Quarter $ 853 $ 491
Second Quarter 10.06 3.06
Third Quarter 14.50 9.63
Fourth Quarter 46.88 13.50

Year Ending December 31, 2000: (through January 25, 2000)
First Quarter $46.88 $37.00

On January 25, 2000 the reported last sale price of the common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was $43.94 per
share. As of December 31, 1999, we had approximately 326 stockholders of record of our common stock.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in
the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business.
In addition, our credit agreement with a bank contains covenants which prohibit us from paying cash dividends.

ISSUANCE OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

We acquired QWES.com, Inc. in December 1999, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated November 30,
1999, by and among the Company, NMS Delaware Acquisition Corp. and QWES.com, Inc. (as amended December 15,
1999, the “Agreement”). Pursuant to the Agreement, we issued 1,449,785 shares of our common stock in exchange for all
of the outstanding shares of capital stock of QWES.com, Inc. The shares were issued using an exemption from registration
pursuant to Rule 506 under the Securities Act.
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ITEM 6

Selected Financial Data
Components of selected financial information consist of the following:

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands except per share data) 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999
Revenues $32,835 $51,464 $75,363 $76,529 $79,476
Gross profit 21,350 33,070 50,065 48,411 47,956
Operating income (loss) 4,200 3,065 7,319 (10,057) (16,634)
Income (loss) before income taxes 2,625 4,273 8,517 (8,993) (17,688)
Income tax expense (benefit) 1,350 2,643 4,758 (2,868) 1,000
Net income (loss) $ 1,275 $ 1,630 $ 3,759 $ (6,125) $(18,688)
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ 0.18 $ 0.17 $ 0.36 $ (0.56) $ (1.63)

Diluted $ 0.18 $ 0.17 $ 0.34 $ (0.56) $ (1.63)
Weighted average common shares used in computing net income (loss) per share:

Basic 7,002 9,370 10,481 10,923 11,482

Diluted 7,005 9,675 11,179 10,923 11,482

December 31,

1995 1996 1997 1998 1999
Total assets $26,396 $62,662 $81,693 $78,950 $70,709
Long-term debt,
less current portion — 392 243 260 306
ITEM 7

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OVERVIEW

We provide enabling technologies to the world's leading suppliers of networking and communications equipment. Our
customers incorporate our software and hardware products and technologies into their solutions in order to enable service
providers and enterprises to rapidly and cost-effectively deploy data, voice and fax applications and enhanced services in
converged networks.

Over the past two years, we have been strategically repositioning our business to address new, high growth markets
resulting from the growth in the converged network build out. To support this repositioning, we made significant invest-
ments in our sales force, built a service organization, expanded our research and development and strengthened our
management team. As a result, during 1999, we achieved sequential increases in revenue over the prior quarter of 6% in
the second quarter, 15% in the third quarter and 23% in the fourth quarter. In the quarter ended December 31, 1999, we
achieved record revenues of $25.0 million, representing a 43% increase over the same period in the prior year.

In December 1999, we acquired QWES.com, Inc. in a transaction accounted for as a pooling of interests. QWES is a busi-
ness in the differentiated IP service provisioning and application traffic shaping markets. In connection with the acquisition,
we exchanged or reserved 1,500,000 shares of our common stock for the outstanding shares, options and warrants of
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QWES. Our consolidated financial statements have been restated to include the financial position, results of operations
and cash flows of QWES from April 3, 1998, when QWES was incorporated, through the acquisition date.

In October 1997, we acquired ViaDSP, Inc. for aggregate consideration of 144,562 shares of our common stock in a trans-
action accounted for as a purchase. ViaDSP was created to define, develop and deliver standard products for the
telecommunications markets using advanced digital signal processing technology. The value of the transaction was $7.1
million, including approximately $236,000 of expenses related to the acquisition.

Our revenues consist primarily of product sales and, to a lesser extent, services provided to our customers. We sell our
products worldwide principally through direct sales focusing on large original equipment manufacturer and significant sys-
tem supplier customers. We use indirect channels to focus on all other customers and prospects. This strategy allows us
to focus our resources on customers that offer us the largest revenue opportunities.

Our revenue is recognized from product sales upon completion of delivery, provided that collection is deemed probable.
Service revenues are recognized ratably over applicable contract periods or as the services are performed.

Our cost of revenues consists primarily of product cost, cost of services provided to our customers and the overhead
associated with testing and fulfillment operations.

Sales, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions and related personnel expenses for
those engaged in our sales, marketing, promotional, public relations, executive accounting and administrative activities
and other general corporate expenses. As we add personnel, launch new products and incur additional costs related to
the growth of our business, we expect these expenses to increase.

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries, personnel expenses and prototype fees related to the
design, development, testing and enhancement of our products. As of December 31, 1999, all research and development
costs have been expensed as incurred. We believe that continued investment in research and development is critical to
attaining our strategic product and cost reduction objectives, and that these expenses will increase in the future.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, selected items from our consolidated statements of
operations as a percentage of revenues.

Year Ended December 31,

1997 1998 1999
Revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of revenues 33.6 36.7 39.7
Gross profit 66.4 63.3 60.3
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 29.6 444 50.3
Research and development 19.7 28.0 31.0
Purchased in-process research
and development 7.4 — —
Restructuring and other special charges — 4.0 0.2)
Total operating expenses 56.7 76.4 81.2
Operating income (loss) 9.7 (13.1) (20.9)
Merger-related costs — — (1.6)
Other income, net 16 14 0.2
Income (loss) before income taxes 113 (11.7) (22.3)
Income tax expense (benefit) 6.3 (3.7 12
Net income (loss) 5.0% (8.0)% (23.5)%
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Year Ended December 31, 1999 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1998

REVENUES

Revenues increased to $79.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 from $76.5 million for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 1998, representing an increase of 3.9%. The increase is attributable to the growth of our services sector, increased
revenues in Europe and increased revenues from our strategic accounts, partially offset by lower revenues in Latin Ameri-
ca. Revenues from sales to customers located outside North America were 27.4%, or $21.8 million, and 26.9%, or $20.6
million, in 1999 and 1998, respectively. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of revenues in 1999 or 1998.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit decreased to $48.0 million for 1999 from $48.4 million for 1998, representing a decrease of 0.9%.
The decrease in gross profit was related to increased expenses incurred for investment in the services and
manufacturing departments.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Selling, general and administrative expense increased to $40.0 million for 1999 from $34.0 million for 1998, representing
an increase of 17.6%. The increase in expenses was due to costs associated with increased selling activity and increased
expenditures for marketing, international expansion and customer support. In 1999, we added a sales office in Italy. These
increased expenses were in anticipation of increased revenues and aided in our repositioning.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development expense increased to $24.7 million for 1999 from $21.5 million in 1998, representing an
increase of 15.1%. The increase in expense was primarily due to increased personnel and project development costs
associated with the Convergence Generation and Alliance Generation product lines and associated software, and devel-
opment of PolicyPoint. We expect that our research and development expense will continue to increase.

OTHER INCOME, NET

Other income and expense, reflecting net interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, decreased to $181,000
for 1999 from $1.1 million (exclusive of merger costs) for 1998, representing a decrease of 83.5%. The decrease is prima-
rily due to lower average cash balances for the period, foreign exchange losses and an increase in interest expense
associated with the debt assumed in the QWES acquisition.

MERGER-RELATED EXPENSES
We incurred a charge of $1.2 million in the fourth quarter of 1999 consisting of investment banking, accounting and legal
fees connected with closing the QWES acquisition.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)

Income tax expense (benefit) was $1.0 million and ($2.9 million) for 1999 and 1998, respectively. During the quarter ended
December 31, 1999, we concluded that a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax asset was required, under
applicable accounting standards, due to uncertainties surrounding its realization. Accordingly, we established a full valua-
tion allowance for the net deferred tax asset of $4.8 million as of the beginning of the year. This was partially offset by 1999
operating loss carrybacks and a reduction in the income tax reserve for probable loss contingencies.

Year Ended December 31, 1998 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1997

REVENUES

Revenues increased to $76.5 million for 1998 from $75.4 million for 1997, representing a 1.5% increase. The increase is
attributable to the growth of our services department, which was added in 1998, as well as increased revenues in North
America and Asia, partially offset by decreased revenues in Europe and Latin America. Revenues from sales to customers
located outside North America were 26.9%, or $20.6 million, for 1998 and 27.9%, or $21.0 million, for 1997. No single cus-
tomer accounted for more than 10% of revenues in 1998 or 1997.
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GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit decreased to $48.4 million for 1998 from $50.1 million for 1997, representing a decrease of 3.3%. The
decrease in gross profit was directly related to expenses we incurred for investment in the services and manufacturing
departments. We took additional charges of approximately $1.1 million in 1998 that were related to prepaid technological
licenses and product write-downs due to the discontinuance of certain products.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Selling, general and administrative expense increased to $34.0 million for 1998 from $22.3 million for 1997, representing
an increase of 52.4%. The increases in expenses were due to costs associated with increased selling activity and
increased expenditures for marketing, international expansion and customer support. In 1998, we added sales offices in
Tokyo and Beijing. These increased expenditures were in anticipation of increased revenues.

We recorded a provision in 1998 against a trade receivable of approximately $2.2 million with a customer that abruptly
ceased operations in April 1998. We recorded revenues of $3.8 million and $2.5 million with this customer in 1997 and
1996, respectively.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development expense increased to $21.5 million for 1998 from $14.9 million for 1997, representing an
increase of 44.5%. The increase in expense was primarily due to increased personnel and project development costs
associated with the Alliance Generation product line and associated software.

PURCHASED IN-PROCESS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

At the time of our acquisition of ViaDSP, Inc. in October 1997, we allocated the purchase price to the tangible and intangi-
ble assets of ViaDSP based on the fair market value of those assets using a risk-adjusted discounted cash flow approach.
Specifically, the purchased in-process research and development, consisting of completed technology and two separate
development projects, was evaluated through interviews. The development projects were further subjected to analysis of
data concerning the state of the technology and needed developments. The evaluation of the underlying technology took
into account the inherent difficulties and uncertainties in completing its development, and thereby achieving technological
feasibility, along with the risks related to the viability of and potential changes in our target markets. At the time of the
acquisition, we expensed the fair value of $5.6 million of the acquired technology that had not reached technological fea-
sibility as in-process research and development and had no alternative future use to us in other research and
development projects or otherwise.

Actual revenues resulting from the purchased in-process research and development have not met our expectations.
These shortfalls from expectations have adversely affected the expected return on our investment in ViaDSP.

OTHER INCOME, NET
Other income and expense, reflecting net interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, decreased to $1.1 mil-
lion in 1998 from $1.2 million (exclusive of merger costs) in 1997, reflecting a decrease of 11.2%.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)

Income tax expense (benefit) was ($2.9 million) and $4.8 million for 1998 and 1997, respectively. The tax rates for 1998
and 1997 differ from the effective tax rate due to state income taxes, net of federal tax benefit; the effect of research and
experimentation federal tax credits; and permanent differences for nondeductible merger and purchased in-process
research and development costs.

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER SPECIAL CHARGES

In the fourth quarter of 1998, in response to changes in our business environment we took several actions to create effi-
ciency, to decrease cash outflows and to manage our business more effectively, that resulted in restructuring and other
special charges. To eliminate payroll and other related expenditures, we reduced our headcount by three senior interna-
tional managers. The accrued cost to implement this reduction was approximately $951,000 (of which approximately
$65,000 was paid in 1998). We also committed to reduce future lease commitments for a new corporate office and engi-
neering space neither of which will be occupied. The accrued cost to reduce or terminate these lease commitments was
approximately $2.1 million, with a projected avoidance of future costs of approximately $10.2 million over ten years.
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We were able to buy out the lease commitment at one of the locations and sublease the other location at an aggregate
cost of approximately $958,000, resulting in a savings of approximately $1.1 million from our original estimate. These sav-
ings resulted in credits against our accruals in 1999. The savings in the first quarter were partially offset by an additional
accrual of approximately $288,000 for unexpected delays in disposing of the other lease commitment. There is no remain-
ing balance for the lease accruals at December 31, 1999.

In the first quarter of 1999, we completed our management reorganization and terminated two additional senior managers.
The severance costs were approximately $441,000, with an anticipated savings of approximately $327,000 a year. In addi-
tion, in the fourth quarter of 1999, we incurred a special charge of approximately $557,000 for payroll-related taxes on an
option exercise by one of the terminated managers. At December 31, 1999 the aggregate severance accruals have a
remaining accrued balance of approximately $450,000, which will be fully paid in 2000.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued Statement of Position No. 98-9, “Modifi-
cation of SOP No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, with Respect to Certain Transactions” (“SOP 98-9”). SOP 98-9
amends SOP 97-2 to require recognition of revenue using the “residual method” in circumstances outlined in SOP 98-9.
Under the residual method, revenue is recognized as follows: (1) the total fair value of undelivered elements, as indicated
by vendor-specific objective evidence, is deferred and subsequently recognized in accordance with the relevant sections
of SOP 97-2 and (2) the difference between the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the undelivered ele-
ments is recognized as revenue related to the delivered elements. SOP 98-9 is effective for transactions entered into in
fiscal years beginning after March 15, 1999. Accordingly, we have adopted the provisions of SOP 98-9 for our fiscal year
2000 which commenced on January 1, 2000. Also, the provisions of SOP 97-2 that were deferred by SOP 98-4 will contin-
ue to be deferred until the date SOP 98-9 becomes effective. We do not expect the adoption of SOP 98-9 to have a
significant impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In June 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities—Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133.” SFAS No. 137 amends SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” which was issued in June 1998. SFAS No. 137 defers the
effective date of SFAS No. 133 to all fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. Accordingly, we will adopt the provisions
of SFAS No. 133 for our fiscal year 2001 which commences on January 1, 2001. SFAS No. 133 requires that all derivative
instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives will be recorded
each period in current earnings or accumulated other comprehensive income, depending on whether a derivative is des-
ignated as part of a hedge transaction and the type of hedge transaction. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 133
to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements. This bulletin summarizes certain views of the staff on applying generally accepted
accounting principals to revenue recognition in financial statements. The staff believes that revenue is realized or realiz-
able and earned when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered; the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and collectibility is rea-
sonably assured. We believe that our current revenue recognition policy complies with the Commission’s guidelines.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash provided by (used by) operations for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $7.6 million, ($4.1
million) and $3.2 million, respectively. Cash was provided by operations in 1999 from decreases in our accounts receiv-
able, inventory and prepaid assets and increases in accrued expenses, partially offset by the net loss. Cash was used in
operations in 1998 from the net loss, and increases in inventory, prepaid expenses and a restructuring accrual partially off-
set by a decrease in accounts receivable. Cash was provided by operations in 1997 from net income and increased
accounts payable partially offset by increased accounts receivable and inventory in support of higher revenues.

Cash (used in) provided by investing activities in 1999, 1998 and 1997 was ($7.7 million), $7.2 million and ($7.8 million),
respectively. Cash of $17.3 million, $6.5 million and $33.0 million was used to purchase marketable securities, with cash of
$16.4 million, $27.6 million and $32.7 million provided from maturities of marketable securities for 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively. Capital expenditures were $6.2 million, $8.6 million and $7.2 million for 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
Increased capital expenditures in 1998 were primarily due to increases in personnel-related and capital improvement
costs. Capital expenditures for 1997 were associated with our new headquarters facility. We expect capital expenditures in
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2000 will approximate $7.0 million, principally for testing equipment, development equipment and computer
hardware and software.

Cash provided by financing activities in 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $4.2 million, $3.2 million and $4.1 million, respectively.
The financing in 1999 was provided primarily by the exercise of stock options and the issuance of debt used to fund
QWES operations. This was partially offset by our purchase for $1.1 million of 100,000 shares of common stock through
our repurchase plan, which our board of directors authorized in July 1999 and subsequently rescinded. The financing in
1998 was provided primarily from the exercise of stock options and the issuance of debt used to fund QWES operations.
The financing in 1997 was provided primarily from the exercise of stock options.

We established a new $7.5 million bank line of credit for working capital purposes effective in May 1999. Borrowings
under our line of credit bear interest at the bank’s floating rate of prime plus one percent. We are subject to covenants
requiring maintenance of certain profitability, equity and liquidity ratios. As of December 31, 1999, we were in compliance
with all of those covenants, and there were no amounts outstanding. This credit agreement is subject to renewal

on May 13, 2000.

We believe that our current cash and marketable securities will be sufficient to meet our cash requirement to fund
operations and expected expenditures for the foreseeable future.

QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following tables set forth unaudited selected financial information for the periods indicated, as well as certain informa-
tion expressed as a percentage of total revenues for the same periods. This information has been derived from unaudited
consolidated financial statements, which we believe include all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjust-
ments) necessary for a fair presentation of such information. This information has not been audited or reviewed by our
independent accountants in accordance with standards established for such reviews. The results of operations for any
quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period.

Revenues have grown relatively steadily over the four quarters for the period ended December 31, 1999, after we signifi-
cantly increased expenses in 1998 as we began our repositioning. Revenue growth from the first quarter of 1999 to the
second quarter was 6%, from the second quarter to the third quarter was 15% and from the third quarter to the fourth
quarter was 23%. We believe that our repositioning efforts have been successful to date. We expect that revenues will
continue to increase into the period ending December 31, 2000.

Operating income (loss) during the eight quarters has varied, decreasing as a percentage of revenues from quarter to
quarter for 1999, after increasing steadily over four quarters of 1998. Cost of revenues remained flat in 1999 after increas-
ing steadily over the four quarters in 1998. In 1998 and 1999, increases in the services and manufacturing departments
led to higher cost of revenues percentages. During this eight-quarter period, selling, general and administrative expenses
have varied due to costs associated with increased sales activity and increased expenditures for marketing and interna-
tional operations. Research and development remained relatively constant as a percentage of revenues.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate as a result of a number of other factors, including timing of customer orders,
adjustments of delivery schedules to accommodate customer or regulatory requirements, availability of components from
suppliers, timing and level of international sales, mix of products sold and timing and level of expenditures for sales, mar-
keting and new product development.

We operate on a relatively small backlog. Quarterly sales and operating results therefore generally depend on the volume
and timing of orders received during or just before the start of the quarter. Our expense levels are based in part on our
forecasts of future revenues and, if such revenues were to fall below expectations, our operating results could be adverse-
ly affected. Accordingly, we cannot be sure that we will be profitable in any particular quarter. All figures set out in the
table below are in thousands.

24



Natural MicroSystems Corporation

Quarter Ended

31-Mar-98 30-Jun-98 30-Sep-98  31-Dec-98 31-Mar-99 30-Jun-99 30-Sep-99 31-Dec-99
Revenues $20,007 $18,436 $20,611 $17,475 $16,621 $17,565 $20,276 $25,014
Cost of revenues 6,066 6,629 7,678 7,745 6,625 6,953 8,080 9,862
Gross profit 13,941 11,807 12,933 9,730 9,996 10,612 12,196 15,152
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 8,805 7,186 8,039 9,949 9,743 9,775 9,966 10,492
Research and development 4,583 4,664 5,345 6,872 5,925 6,258 6,278 6,244
Restructuring and
other special charges — — — 3,025 — — — 92)
Total operating expenses 13,388 11,850 13,384 19,846 15,668 16,033 16,244 16,645
Operating income (loss) 553 (43) (451) (10,116) (5,672) (5,421) (4,048) (1,493)
Merger-related expenses — — — — — — — (1,235)
Other income (loss) net 223 234 272 335 (208) 191 50 148
Income (loss) before income taxes 776 191 (179) (9,781) (5,880) (5,230) (3,998) (2,580)
Income tax expense (benefit) 272 92 31 (3,264) (1,858) (1,580) (1,156) 5,594
Net income (loss) $ 504 $ 99 $ (210)  $(6,517) $(4,022)  $(3,650) $(2,842) $(8,174)
Quarter Ended
31-Mar-98 30-Jun-98 30-Sep-98 31-Dec-98 31-Mar-99 30-Jun-99 30-Sep-99 31-Dec-99
Percent of Revenues
Revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%  100.0%
Cost of revenues 30.3 36.0 37.3 44.3 39.9 39.6 39.8 39.4
Gross profit 69.7 64.0 62.7 55.7 60.1 60.4 60.2 60.6
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 44.0 39.0 39.0 57.0 58.6 55.7 49.2 41.9
Research and development 229 253 25.9 39.3 35.7 35.6 31.0 25.0
Restructuring and
other special charges — — — 173 — — — 0.3
Total operating expenses 66.9 64.3 64.9 113.6 94.3 91.3 80.2 66.6
Operating income (loss) 2.8 0.3) (2.2 (57.9) (34.2) (30.9) (20.0) 6.0
Merger-related expenses — — — — — — — 4.9
Other income (loss), net 11 13 13 1.9 (1.2) 11 0.3 0.6
Income (loss) before income taxes 3.9 10 0.9 (56.0) (35.4) (29.8) (19.7) (10.3)
Income tax expense (benefit) 14 0.5 0.2 (18.7) (11.2) (9.0) (5.7) 22.4
Net income (loss) 2.5% 0.5% (1.1)% (37.3)% (24.2)% (20.8)% (14.0%  (32.7)%
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YEAR 2000 READINESS DISCLOSURE

We believe that all of our current major product offerings are Year 2000 compliant. Certain older legacy products, which
we no longer sell, may not be Year 2000 compliant. We have addressed the issue of legacy products by publishing on our
external website a notice to the effect that certain of these products may not be Year 2000 compliant and that each cus-
tomer who purchased these products should test and, as needed, repair or replace any of them to the extent that they are
still in use. We spent approximately $1.0 million during 1999 in addressing Year 2000 compliance issues. To this date, we
are not aware of any material problems resulting from Year 2000 issues, either with our products, our internal systems or
the products and services of third parties.

EUROPEAN UNION CURRENCY CONVERSION

On January 1, 1999, 11 member nations of the European Economic and Monetary Union began using a common curren-
cy, the euro. For a three-year transition period ending June 30, 2002, both the euro and each of the currencies for such
member nations will remain in circulation. After June 30, 2002, the euro will be the sole legal tender for those countries.
The adoption of the euro will affect many financial systems and business applications, as the commerce of those countries
will be transacted in both the euro and the existing national currency during the transition period. We have subsidiary
operations in three of the eleven countries currently using the euro, France, Germany and Italy, and we have branch oper-
ations in a fourth country, Spain. We have assessed the potential impact of the euro conversion in a number of areas,
particularly the potential impact on pricing and other marketing strategies and on product development. Although we do
not currently expect that the conversion, either during or after the transition period, will adversely affect our operations or
financial condition, the conversion has only recently been implemented and we cannot be sure that it will not have some
adverse impact.

OTHER

Our primary market risk exposures are in the areas of interest rate risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk. Our
investment portfolio of cash equivalents and marketable securities is subject to interest rate fluctuations, but we believe
this risk is immaterial due to the short-term nature of these investments. At December 31, 1999, we had $2.9 million of
short-term and $306,000 of long-term debt outstanding. The short-term debt was issued under various notes payable and
due to their short-term maturities, a hypothetical 10% decrease in our weighted-average short-term borrowing rate at
December 31, 1999 would not have materially affected the year-end carrying value of the debt. Our exposure to currency
exchange rate fluctuations has been and is expected to remain moderate due to the fact that the operations of our inter-
national subsidiaries are primarily conducted in their respective local currencies.

For U.S. federal income tax purposes we have net operating loss carryforwards available to reduce taxable income of
approximately $16.4 million at December 31, 1999, of which $2.9 million is subject to Internal Revenue Code Section 382.
These carryforwards will begin to expire in 2004. We also have a foreign net operating loss carryforward of approximately
$845,000. Utilization of net operating loss carryforwards is subject to an annual limitation of approximately $772,000 under
Internal Revenue Code Section 382. We have $1.5 million of tax credits which are composed of federal research and
development credits and state and local credits. These credits expire beginning in 2004.

We believe that our revenues and results of operations have not been significantly impacted by inflation during the past
three fiscal years.
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ITEM 8
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Natural Microsystems Corporation:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under item 14(a)(1) present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Natural Microsystems Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) at
December 31, 1999 and 1998, the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. In addition,
in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under item 14(a)(2) presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therein for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999,
when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and the financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits. The consolidated financial state-
ments and the financial statement schedule give retroactive effect to the merger of QWES.com, Inc. in a transaction
accounted for as a pooling of interests, as described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. We conducted
our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the
opinion expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
January 24, 2000
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Natural MicroSystems Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS

December 31,

(In thousands except share and per share data) 1998 1999
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $12,172 $16,617
Marketable securities 5,898 6,837
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts
of $779 and $1,408, respectively 17,224 11,604
Inventories 9,773 5,393
Prepaid expenses and other assets 3,811 3,030
Income tax receivable 12 2,014
Deferred tax asset, net 2,791 —
Total current assets 51,681 45,495
Property and equipment, net 14,130 14,871
License agreements, net 571 267
Other assets 6,621 6,616
Goodwill, net 3,925 3,460
Deferred tax asset, net 2,022 —
Total assets $78,950 $70,709
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 5,723 7,211
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 7,674 9,772
Current portion of long term debt 80 2,907
Total current liabilities 13,477 19,890
Long-term debt less current portion 260 306
Commitments and contingencies (see note 15)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 3,686,086 and 3,000,000 shares authorized
at December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively, 37,506 and 0 shares
issued and outstanding in 1998 and 1999, respectively — —
Common stock, $.01 par value; 47,469,908 and 45,000,000 shares authorized
at December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively, 11,951,541 and 12,766,261
shares issued at December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively, and 11,951,541
and 12,759,807 shares outstanding at December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively 120 128
Additional paid-in capital 68,642 72,923
Accumulated deficit (3,292) (21,980)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (48) (391)
Deferred compensation (110) —
Notes receivable from common stockholders (99) (99)
Treasury stock, at cost, 6,454 shares in 1999 — (68)
Total stockholders’ equity 65,213 50,513
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $78,950 $70,709

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Natural MicroSystems Corporation

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands except per share data) 1997 1998 1999
Revenues $75,363 $76,529 $79,476
Cost of revenues 25,298 28,118 31,520
Gross profit 50,065 48,411 47,956
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 22,294 33,979 39,976
Research and development 14,851 21,464 24,705
Purchased in-process research and development 5,601 — —
Restructuring and other special charges — 3,025 92)
Total operating expenses 42,746 58,468 64,590
Operating income (loss) 7,319 (10,057) (16,634)
Interest income 1,434 1,389 849
Interest expense (34) (119) (239)
Other (202) (206) (429)
Merger-related expenses — — (1,235)
Other income (expense), net. 1,198 1,064 (1,054)
Income (loss) before income taxes 8,517 (8,993) (17,688)
Income tax expense (benefit) 4,758 (2,868) 1,000
Net income (loss) $ 3,759 $(6,125) $(18,688)
Basic:
Net income (loss) per common share $ 036 $ (0.56) $ (1.63)
Weighted average shares outstanding 10,481 10,923 11,482
Diluted:
Net income (loss) per common share $ 034 $ (0.56) $ (1.63)
Weighted average shares outstanding 11,179 10,923 11,482

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Natural MicroSystems Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Natural MicroSystems Corporation

Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 1997 1998 1999
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $3,759 $(6,125) $(18,688)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,995 5,635 6,581
Gain (loss) on sales of marketable securities (331) (22) 43
Loss on sale of fixed assets — 4) —
Amortization of deferred stock compensation expense — 44 110
Amortization of original issue discount — 120
Purchased in-process research and development 5,601 — —
Deferred income taxes ) — 4,820
Tax benefit from stock option exercises — — 2,165
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (6,572) 2,535 5,132
Inventories (3,321) (1,053) 4,195
Prepaid expenses and other assets (1,510) (2,216) 529
Income tax receivable — 139 (2,002)
Accounts payable (305) 298 1,619
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,842 (3,328) 2,975
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities 3,157 (4,097) 7,599
Cash flow from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment (7,207) (8,618) (6,194)
Additions to license agreements (267) (255) (103)
Additions to goodwill for contingent payments — (1,923) (515)
Purchases of marketable securities (32,983) (6,470) (17,326)
Proceeds for the sale of marketable securities 32,690 27,578 16,393
Purchase of convertible debenture — (3,000) —
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment — 100 61
Additions to other long term assets (80) (250) (56)
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (7,847) 7,162 (7,740)
Cash flow from financing activities:
Payments on capital lease obligations — 4) (7)
Repayment on stockholders note receivable — 3 —
Payments on government advances (49) (125) (98)
Proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock, net — 812 —
Proceeds from the issuance of notes payable — 100 2,256
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 4,187 2,381 2,125
Repurchase of common stock — — (1,058)
Issuance of repurchased treasury common stock — — 990
Grant of non-statutory stock options — 3 —
Cash provided by financing activities 4,138 3,170 4,208

continued on next page
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Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 292 (381) 378
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (260) 5,854 4,445
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,578 6,318 12,172
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $6,318 $12,172 $16,617
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 128 $ 134 $ 239
Taxes paid 3,748 1,551 197
Noncash transactions:
Issuance of common stock for ViaDSP acquisition 6,903 — —
Accrued acquisition expenses for ViaDSP acquisition 236 — —
Acquisition of assets under capital lease — 13 —
Issuance of common stock in exchange for notes receivable — 102 —
Issuance of warrants — — 147
Assets and liabilities recognized upon
acquisition of ViaDSP Inventories 22 — —
Other current assets 35 — —
Property and equipment 105 — —
Purchased in-process research and development 5,601 — —
Intangibles 2,417 — —
Accounts payable 585 — —
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 680 — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements

1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business Description

Natural MicroSystems Corporation (the “Company”) provides enabling technologies to the world’s leading suppliers of net-
working and communications equipment. Our customers incorporate our software and hardware products and
technologies into their solutions in order to enable service providers and enterprises to rapidly and cost-effectively deploy
data, voice and fax applications and enhanced services in converged networks.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercom-
pany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Company’s Hong Kong and Latin American subsidiaries, which are denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, are remeasured into U.S. dollars at rates of exchange in effect at the end of the fiscal year,
except nonmonetary assets and liabilities which are measured using historical exchange rates. Realized and unrealized

32



Natural MicroSystems Corporation

gains and losses resulting from currency remeasurement are included in operating expenses. Such gains and losses were
not material for any period presented. The Company’s other foreign subsidiaries’ operations are measured in their local
currency. Adjustments resulting from translating these subsidiaries’ financial statements to the U.S. dollar are recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss in total stockholders’ equity. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency
transactions are included in other income (expense), net, and were immaterial for all years presented.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from product sales is recorded upon completion of delivery provided that collection is deemed probable. Service
revenues are recognized ratably over applicable contract periods or as the services are performed.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include short-term investments with remaining maturities of three months or less at date of purchase.

Marketable Securities
Marketable securities are classified as “available for sale” and are carried at fair market value.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is based on the following estimated useful lives of the assets
using the straight-line method:

Machinery and equipment 3years

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Telecommunications computer equipment 5 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or economic life

Expenditures for additions, renewals and betterments of property and equipment are capitalized. Expenditures for repairs
and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. As assets are retired or sold, the related cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations.

Goodwill
Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. Accumulated amortization was $1.2 million and
$2.2 million as of December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in business cir-
cumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these
assets are no longer appropriate. Each impairment test is based on a comparison of the undiscounted cash flows to the
recorded value of the asset. If an impairment is indicated, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value on a dis-
counted cash flow basis.

License Agreements
License agreements are stated at cost. Amortization of licenses is computed on the shorter of a per unit sold basis or over
the estimated useful lives of these licenses.

Research and Development
All research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes software development costs incurred after a product’s technological feasibility has been estab-
lished and before it is available for general release to customers. Amortization of capitalized software costs and acquired
completed technology is computed on an individual product basis and is the greater of a) the ratio that current gross rev-
enues for a product bear to the total of current and anticipated future gross revenues of that product or b) the straight-line
method over the estimated economic life of the product. Costs qualifying for capitalization have been immaterial for all
periods presented and accordingly have not been capitalized.
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Financial Instruments
Financial instruments, primarily cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, and long term
debt, are carried at amounts which approximate their fair value.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted statutory tax rates in effect in the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A
deferred tax asset is established for the expected future benefit of net operating loss and credit carry-forwards. A valua-
tion reserve against net deferred tax assets is required, if, based upon available evidence, it is more likely than not that
some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Basic and Diluted Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the
net income (loss) by the sum of the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus all additional common
shares that would have been outstanding if potentially dilutive common stock equivalents had been issued.

2—DEPENDENCE ON OUTSIDE SUPPLIERS AND CONTRACT ASSEMBLY MANUFACTURERS

The Company relies on various suppliers of components for its products. Many of these components are standard and
generally available from multiple sources. However, certain integrated circuits and other devices which are components of
one or more of the Company’s products are purchased from single source suppliers of the Company. Although the Com-
pany believes it could develop other sources for each of these custom devices, the process could take several months,
and the inability or refusal of any of the Company’s suppliers to continue to supply devices could have a material adverse
effect on the Company pending the development of an alternative source. The Company also currently relies on a single
contract manufacturer to assemble certain printed circuit boards for each of its North American and European operations.
Although a number of such contract manufacturers exist, the interruption or termination of the Company’s current manu-
facturing relationships could have a short-term adverse effect on the Company’s business.

3—MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

In June 1996, the Company acquired the outstanding shares of Teknique, Inc. and an affiliate. The final purchase

price totaled $8.3 million, including contingent payments discussed below and transaction costs of $284,000. The trans-
action was accounted for as a purchase and accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to assets purchased and
liabilities assumed based on their fair values at the date of acquisition. During the years ended December 31, 1997

and 1998, $1.9 million and $625,000 of contingent consideration was earned and added to goodwill, which is being
amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the goodwill of seven years. There are no possible further
contingent payments.

In October 1997 the Company acquired ViaDSP, Inc. for aggregate consideration of 144,562 shares of the Company’s
common stock. ViaDSP was formed in 1996 as a spin-off of DSP Software Engineering on January 26, 1996. ViaDSP was
created to define, develop and deliver standard products for the telecommunications markets using advanced digital sig-
nal processing technology. The value of the transaction was $7.1 million, including approximately $236,000 of expenses
related to the acquisition. The transaction was accounted for as a purchase.

At the time of acquisition, the purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets of ViaDSP based on the
fair market value of those assets using a risk-adjusted discounted cash flow approach. Specifically, the purchased tech-
nology, consisting of completed technology and two separate development projects, was evaluated through interviews.
The development projects were further subjected to analysis of data concerning the state of the technology and needed
developments. This evaluation of underlying technology acquired considered the inherent difficulties and uncertainties in
completing the two development projects, and thereby achieving technological feasibility, and the risks related to the via-
bility of and potential changes in future target markets. At the time of the acquisition, the fair value of $5.6 million of the
acquired technology that had not reached technological feasibility was expensed as purchased in-process research and
development. The underlying technology had no alternative future use to the Company in other research and develop-
ment projects or otherwise. The completed technology was valued at $1.5 million based upon a risk adjusted discounted
cash flows basis and is being amortized to cost of revenues over a five year life. The goodwill life used is seven years.
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Total ViaDSP purchase price was allocated as follows:
(in thousands)

Working Capital $ (984)
Property and equipment 105
Completed Technology 1,468
In-process research and development 5,601
Goodwill 949

$7,139

The unaudited proforma results listed below reflect purchase price accounting adjustments assuming the ViaDSP acquisi-
tion occurred at the beginning of each year presented:

Year Ended December 31,1997 (unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue $76,529
Income before Income Taxes 8,521
Net Income 3,762
Net Income per common share—diluted $ 034

In December 1999, the Company acquired QWES.com, Inc. (“QWES”) in a transaction accounted for as a pooling of inter-
ests. QWES is a business in the differentiated IP service provisioning and application traffic shaping market. In connection
with the acquisition, the Company exchanged or reserved 1,500,000 shares of its common stock for the outstanding
shares, options and warrants of QWES, at an exchange ratio of 0.1372 shares for each QWES common equivalent. Upon
effectiveness of the merger, the Company issued an aggregate of 1,449,785 shares of common stock in exchange for the
outstanding shares of capital stock of QWES, and it reserved 30,314 shares and 19,901 shares, respectively, for issuance
upon exercise of the options and warrants that it assumed from QWES. The consolidated financial statements of the Com-
pany for 1998 have been restated to include the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of QWES, since
QWES was incorporated in April 1998. The Company incurred a charge of $1.2 million in the fourth quarter of 1999 con-
sisting of investment banking, accounting and legal fees connected with closing the QWES acquisition.

Net revenue for the combined companies in 1998 was $76.5 million which was totally related to Natural MicroSystems, as
QWES had no revenues in 1998. Operating income (loss) for the combined companies in 1998 was ($10.1 million) of
which ($9.3 million) related to Natural MicroSystems and ($0.8 million) related to QWES. Net income (loss) for the com-
bined companies in 1998 was ($6.1 million) of which ($5.3 million) related to Natural MicroSystems and ($0.8 million)
related to QWES.

Net revenue for the combined companies in 1999 was $79.5 million which was totally related to Natural MicroSystems, as
QWES had no revenues in 1999. Operating income (loss) for the combined companies in 1999 was ($16.6 million) of
which ($14.2 million) related to Natural MicroSystems and ($2.4 million) related to QWES. Net income (loss) for the com-
bined companies in 1999 was ($18.7 million) of which ($15.9 million) related to Natural MicroSystems and ($2.8 million)
related to QWES.

QWES will continue to operate as a separate operation maintaining its West Coast location and expects to market its fami-
ly of products through a dedicated sales force.

4—RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER SPECIAL CHARGES

In the fourth quarter of 1998, in response to changes in the Company’s business environment, several actions were taken
to create efficiency, to decrease cash outflows and to manage the business more effectively, that resulted in restructuring
and other special charges. To eliminate payroll and other related expenditures, the Company reduced headcount by three
senior international managers. The accrued cost to implement this reduction was approximately $951,000 (of which
approximately $65,000 was paid in 1998). The Company also committed to reduce future lease commitments for a new
corporate office and engineering space of which neither will be occupied. The accrued cost to reduce or terminate these
lease commitments was approximately $2.1 million.

The Company was able to buy out the lease commitment at one location and sublease the other location at an aggregate
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cost of approximately $958,000, resulting in a savings of approximately $1.1 million from the original estimate. There is no
remaining balance for the lease accruals at December 31, 1999.

In 1999, the Company completed the management reorganization and terminated two additional senior managers. The
severance costs were approximately $441,000. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company incurred a special
charge of approximately $557,000 for payroll-related taxes on an option exercise by one of the terminated managers. At
December 31, 1999 the aggregate severance accruals have a remaining accrued balance of approximately $450,000
which will be fully paid in 2000.

5—BUSINESS AND CREDIT CONCENTRATION

No customer accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s revenues for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and
1999, respectively. The Company did have two customers that each had ending accounts receivable balances that were
greater than 10% of the Company’s balance at December 31, 1999. The Company does not require collateral on accounts
receivable or letters of credit on many foreign export sales. The Company periodically evaluates its customers’ creditwor-
thiness before extending credit.

6—MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities categorized as “available for sale” are carried at their fair value of $27.0 million, $5.9 million and $6.8
million at December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively. The unrealized gain (loss) at December 31, 1999 is included
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss within total stockholders’ equity. The unrealized gain (loss) was
immaterial for 1997 and 1998. Proceeds and gross realized gains (losses) from sale of securities for the years ended
December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, were, $32.7 million, $27.6 million and $16.4 million and $331,000, $185,000 and $0,
respectively. At December 31, 1999, all marketable securities, which consist primarily of commercial paper, had a maturity
date within one year.

7—INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,

(in thousands) 1998 1999
Raw materials $ 967 $ 517
Work in process 5,747 2,611
Finished goods 3,059 2,265

$9,773 $5,393

8 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31,

(in thousands) 1998 1999
Computer equipment $10,748 $14,015
Computer software 3,066 4,495
Furniture and fixtures 2,683 2,331
Machinery and equipment 896 1,670
Evaluation units 90 —
Leasehold improvements 5,045 4,744
22,528 27,255
Less accumulated depreciation (8,398) (12,384)
$14,130 $14,871

Depreciation and amortization expense was $3.0 million, $5.6 million and $6.6 million for the years ended December 31,
1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.
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9—INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense (benefit) consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 1997 1998 1999

Current income tax expense (benefit):

Federal $4,161 $ (311) $(3,927)
State 361 40 25
Foreign 237 158 89
4,759 (113) (3,813)
Deferred income tax expense (benefit):

Federal 252 (2,184) 3,340
State 61 (636) 613
Foreign (314) 65 860
2 (2,755) 4,813
$4,758 $(2,868) $1,000

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following:
Net operating loss carryforward $1,646 $ 2,040 $7,211
Inventories 201 314 682
Tax credit carryforwards — 370 1,547
Receivable allowances 250 302 637
Accrued expenses 55 1,168 (516)
Other 19 1,291 1,495
$2,171 $5,485 $11,056
Fixed assets (117) (313) (1,048)
Valuation allowance: — (359) (10,008)
$2,054 $4,813 $ —

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $16.4 million.
These carryforwards expire beginning in 2004 and $2.9 million of such carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation of
approximately $772,000 under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. There may be further Section 382 limitations as a
result of changes in ownership. The net operating loss amount of $7.2 million includes approximately $1.1 million which if
realized through future income will be credited directly to stockholders’ equity. The Company also has a foreign net operat-
ing loss carryforward of approximately $845,000. The Company has $1.5 million of tax credits which is composed of
federal research and development credits and state and local credits. These credits expire beginning in 2004. At Decem-
ber 31, 1999, under applicable accounting standards, management believes that the realization of the net deferred tax
asset is more unlikely than not and, accordingly, a full valuation was established in the fourth quarter of 1999. This resulted
in a charge of $4.8 million in 1999 for the beginning of the year net deferred tax asset. The Company also reduced its tax
reserves for probable loss exposures in the fourth quarter of 1999, which is included in the change in valuation allowance
in the tax rate reconciliation schedule.
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The difference between the total expected income tax expense computed by applying the federal income tax rate of
34.0% to income before income taxes and the reported income tax expense is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

1997 1998 1999
Computed expected tax expense at U.S. federal statutory rate 34.0% (34.0)% (34.0)%
State income taxes, net of U.S. federal tax benefit 5.8 (5.3) 4.9)
Rate differential of foreign operations 11 — 19
State tax credits — — (3.4
U.S, federal research and development credits (2.0) — (3.2
Change in valuation allowance (6.0 3.1 433
Exempt interest — (1.8) —
Purchased in-process research and development 222 — —
Nondeductible intangibles 0.6 3.6 19
Acquisition expenses — — 22
Other 0.2 25 19
Effective tax rate 55.9% (31.9)% 5.7%

The domestic and foreign components of earnings before income tax were:

Year Ended December 31,

in thousands 1997 1998 1999
Domestic $9,157 $ (441) $(15,435)
Foreign (640) (8,552) (2,253)

$8,517 $(8,993) $(17,688)

10—ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES
Components of accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of the following:

December 31,

in thousands 1998 1999
Accrued compensation and related expenses $1,547 $6,314
Income taxes payable 838 114
Accrued restructuring and other special charges 2,960 450
Other liabilities 2,329 2,894

$7,674 $9,772

11—-INDEBTEDNESS

Bank Lines of Credit

The Company established a new $7.5 million bank line of credit for working capital purposes effective May 14, 1999. Bor-
rowings under the line of credit bear interest at the bank’s floating rate of prime plus one percent. The Company is subject
to covenants requiring maintenance of certain profitability, equity and liquidity ratios. As of December 31, 1999, the Com-
pany is currently compliant with all covenants under the line, and there are no amounts currently outstanding. This
agreement is subject to renewal on May 13, 2000.

As part of the acquisition of QWES, the Company assumed its outstanding debt which consisted of promissory notes and
notes payable. The total amount of debt outstanding at December 31, 1999 was $2.5 million from the QWES acquisition.
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The debt bears interest ranging from 8.0% to 10.0% per annum. At December 31, 1999, $2.2 million of the debt matures
on various dates in 2000 and is included in the current portion of long-term debt, and the remaining amount of $275,000 is
included in long-term debt less current portion and matures in 2002. The acquisition of QWES caused the Company to be
in default of a covenant with one of the lenders, however, as a condition of the acquisition being consummated, the lender
waived the default. In connection with the issuance of some of the notes, the Company issued warrants to purchase
84,835 shares of common stock of the Company at an exercise price of $.07 per share for 70,542 shares and $7.87 per
share for the remaining 14,293 shares. The warrants are exercisable in whole or in part at any time from the date of the
grant and expire four years from the date of grant. At December 31, 1999, warrants to purchase 19,901 shares were out-
standing. The estimated fair value of the warrants aggregating approximately $147,000, has been reflected as original
issue discount reducing the carrying value of the notes on the accompanying balance sheet and is being amortized to
interest expense over the respective lives of the notes.

The Company has a 2.0 million French franc ($309,000 at December 31, 1999) line of credit with a European bank. At
December 31, 1999, there were no borrowings outstanding under this line. Borrowings under this line bear interest at rates
ranging from 7.5% to 9.0%. Borrowings are collateralized by certain of the Company’s assets.

Included in debt is a government advance of $231,000 and $31,000 at December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively. This
represents an interest free loan from the French government repayable from the proceeds of export sales from France.

12—PROFIT SHARING PLANS

The Company has established a 401(k) cash or deferred profit sharing plan covering all eligible full-time employees of the
Company. Contributions to the 401(k) plan are made by the participants to their individual accounts through payroll with-
holding. Additionally, the plan provides for the Company to make profit sharing contributions to the plan in amounts at the
discretion of management. The employer contribution for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 was
$258,000, $416,000 and $452,000, respectively.

The Company currently matches contributions each pay period at 50.0% of the employee’s contributions up to 6.0% of the
employee’s compensation, not to exceed the federal limit of $10,000 per calendar year.

13—BASIC AND DILUTED NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE
The following is a reconciliation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share computations for net income,
pursuant to SFAS 128:

Income (loss) Shares

(Numerator) (Denominator) Per Share Amount
Year Ended December 31, 1999
Basic net income (loss) per common share $(18,688) 11,482,342 $(1.63)
Effect of dilutive securities (stock options) — — —
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $(18,688) 11,482,342 $(1.63)
Year Ended December 31, 1998
Basic net income (loss) per common share $(6,125) 10,923,261 $(0.56)
Effect of dilutive securities (stock options) — — —
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $(6,125) 10,923,261 $(0.56)
Year Ended December 31, 1997
Basic net income (loss) per common share $3,759 10,481,340 $0.36
Effect of dilutive securities (stock options) — 697,887 —
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $3,759 11,179,227 $0.34

The effect of dilutive options excludes those stock options for which the impact would have been anti-dilutive based on
the exercise price of the options. The number of options that were anti-dilutive at December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999
were 75,950, 3,349,701 and 2,748,488, respectively.
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14—STOCK OPTION AND STOCK PURCHASE PLANS

1989 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plan

In July 1989, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 1989 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plan (the “1989
Plan”), which permitted both incentive and non-statutory options exercisable for the purchase of shares of common stock
to be granted to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. In October 1993, the Board of Directors amended
the 1989 Plan to provide that no further options were to be granted under the 1989 Plan after the effective date of the
Company’s initial public offering.

1993 Stock Option Plan

In October 1993, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 1993 Stock Option Plan (the “1993 Plan”). The 1993
Plan permits both incentive and non- statutory options to be granted to employees, directors and consultants. In March
1998, the Board of Directors adopted and in April 1998, the Company’s stockholders approved (i) an increase in the
number of shares available under the 1993 Plan from 1.5 million to 1.9 million and (i) a requirement that the exercise price
of options granted under the 1993 Plan be at least equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the
date of grant.

1993 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan

In October 1993, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 1993 Non- Employee Directors Stock Option Plan (the
“Directors Plan”) which provides for the purchase of up to 120,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the grant of non-
statutory stock options to directors who are not employees of the Company. In March 1996 the Board of Directors adopted
and in May 1996 the Company’s stockholders approved (i) an increase in the number of shares for which options shall be
granted to newly elected non-employee directors from 10,000 to 15,000 and (ii) an increase in the number of shares for
which options shall be granted to incumbent non-employee directors from 2,000 to 5,000. In March 1999, the Board of
Directors adopted and in April 1999, the Company’s stockholders approved an increase in the number of shares available
under the Directors Plan from 120,000 to 240,000 shares. The exercise price of the options may not be less than 100% of
the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant. As of December 31, 1999, 140,000 shares
had been granted at prices ranging from $4.88 to $49.25 per share.

1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan

In October 1995, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 1995 Non- Statutory Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan”).
The 1995 Plan permits non- statutory options to be granted to non-executive officer employees and consultants of the
Company. In April 1998, the Board of Directors amended the plan to increase the number of shares available for purchas-
es to 1,300,000 shares of common stock, and in March 1999, the Board of Directors amended the plan to increase the
number of shares available for purchases to 1,800,000 shares of common stock. The exercise price of non-statutory
options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the company’s common stock on the date of grant.
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 1997 December 31, 1998 December 31, 1999

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding at beginning of period 2,087,157 $10.28 1,766,251 $15.68 2,364,508  $11.39
Granted 338,155 28.66 1,932,035 16.39 1,030,447 9.87
Exercised (622,772) 4.77 (171,309) 9.19 (303561)  7.36
Forfeited or expired (36,289)  15.89 (1,162,469) 26.64 (343,044) 958
Outstanding at end of period 1,766,251 15.68 2,364,508 11.39 2,748,350 11.47
Exercisable at end of period 609,092  $10.76 824,229 $10.93 1,176,460  $11.50

The following table summarizes information concerning currently outstanding and exercisable options
as of December 31, 1999:

Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted
Range of Number Remaining Average Number Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Excercise price
$0.17-$10.00 1,195,654 79 $ 6.26 470,688 $ 6.50
$10.01-$20.00 1,275,222 6.8 11.29 591,291 12.08
$20.01-$30.00 105,893 6.8 25.44 85,667 25.53
$30.01-$40.00 50,831 8.4 35.00 17,977 3431
$40.01-$50.00 120,750 9.7 44.27 10,837 48.94
2,748,350 7.4 $11.47 1,176,460 $11.50

Other Stock Option Information

On July 9, 1998, the Company gave certain holders of stock options, including executive officers, the opportunity to
exchange options for new options with a lower exercise price and with a new vesting schedule beginning on the grant
date of the new options. The Company believes the repricing restored the long term incentive element of its stock option
programs. The options were valued at $10.19, which reflects the market closing price on the date of the re-pricing. There
were 1,040,639 options that were exchanged at exercise prices ranging from $12.31 to $48.62. Prior to this event, the
Company had never engaged in a repricing of common stock options.

All options granted under the various plans administered by the Company have a vesting life not to exceed four years.
These options have an expiration date of ten years from the date of grant, with the exception of all repriced options, which
have an expiration date of seven years from the date of grant.

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and relat-
ed interpretations in accounting for its stock option and employee stock purchase plan.

The weighted average fair value at date of grant for stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 1997,
1998 and 1999 was $14.95, $3.33 and $6.83, respectively. Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock option grants
been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates, as calculated in accordance with SFAS No.123, the Compa-
ny’'s net income (loss), and net income (loss) per diluted common share for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998
and 1999, would have been $571,000, ($8.2 million) and ($23.6 million) and $0.05, ($0.75) and ($2.06), respectively. The
fair value of each option granted during the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions; an expected life of five years, no divi-
dend yield, 50.0% expected volatility in 1997 and 1998 and 80.0% in 1999, and a risk free interest rate of 6.6% for 1997,
5.6% for 1998 and 6.4% for 1999.

The effects of applying SFAS No.123 in the disclosure are not indicative of future amounts. SFAS No.123 does not apply to
awards prior to 1995 and additional awards in future years are anticipated.
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1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“Purchase Plan”), which was adopted by the Board of Directors in 1993 and
amended by the Company’s stockholders in 1996, permits employees and officers of the Company to participate in peri-
odic plan offerings, in which payroll deductions may be used to purchase shares of common stock. The purchase price is
85% of the lower of the fair market value at the date the offering commences or terminates. The Company reserved
400,000 shares for the Purchase Plan. In March 1999, the Board of Directors adopted and in April 1999, the Company’s
stockholders approved an increase in the number of shares available under the Purchase Plan from 400,000 to 700,000
shares. As of December 31, 1999, 292,864 shares have been issued under the Purchase Plan at prices ranging from
$4.36 to $48.62 per share.

Restricted Stock Awards

On April 3, 1998, QWES.com, Inc. issued 933,762 shares of restricted common stock at a fair value of $0.11 per share to
its founders. The stock was scheduled to vest over a three-year period, but vested in full when the Company acquired
QWES in December 1999.

15—COMMITMENTS

The Company leases its current manufacturing and office facilities under non-cancelable leases extending to April 30,
2012. The Company occupies other facilities under leases, which expire within one year. Rental expenses under all oper-
ating lease agreements in effect during December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999 amount to approximately $1.2 million, $1.3
million and $1.8 million, respectively.

The Company currently has a sublease on one of its facilities located in Schaumburg, lllinois. The lease calls for payments
of $5.6 million over a nine- year period beginning in November 1999. These payments over time would reduce the overall
lease burden of the Company to $17.5 million. Due to the acquisition of QWES, the Company is currently looking for a new
facility in the Tustin, California area to replace its current facility. QWES's current lease expires in February 2000.

The Company has various other facilities throughout North America, Europe and Asia that have short term leases and act
as sales offices. The Company believes that the existing facilities are adequate for our current needs and that suitable
space will be available to meet future needs.

At December 31, 1999, commitments under operating leases for minimum future payments consist of the following:

Year ending December 31,

(in thousands) Leases
2000 $ 2,148

2001 2,316

2002 2,304

2000 2,047

2004 2,009
Thereafter 12,247

$23,071

16—SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company manages its business on the basis of geographic area. See Note 1 for a description of the Company’s busi-
ness. All intercompany revenues and expenses are eliminated in computing revenues and operating income. As of
December 31, 1999 the Company has operations established in 12 countries outside the United States and its products
are sold throughout the world. The Company is exposed to the risk of changes in social, political and economic conditions
inherent in foreign operations and the Company’s results of operations and the value of its foreign assets are affected by
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Net sales by geographic region are presented by attributing revenues
from external customers on the basis of where products are sold. “Other” includes the regions of Asia and Latin America.
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(in thousands) North America Europe Other Corporate Total
Net Sales to unaffiliated customers:

1999 $57,664 $14,329 $7,483 $ 79,476

1998 55,906 11,772 8,851 76,529

1997 54,358 11,393 9,612 75,363
Income (loss) from operations:

1999 $(16,780) $ (608) $ 754 $(16,634)

1998 (1,283) (4,208) (4,566) (10,057)

1997 7,900 (1,876) 1,295 7,319
Segment assets:

1999 $ 47,287 $ 9,764 $1,355 $12,303 $ 70,709

1998 51,655 9,540 1,086 16,669 78,950

1997 45,242 7,616 800 28,035 81,693
Long-lived assets:

1999 $ 30,901 $ 2,522 $ 503 $ 33,926

1998 27,035 2,532 554 30,121

1997 17,441 1,940 188 19,569
Capital expenditures:

1999 $ 5,668 $ 423 $ 103 $ 6,194

1998 7,354 909 355 8,618

1997 6,724 408 75 7,207
Depreciation and amortization expense:

1999 $ 6,028 $ 497 $ 56 $ 6,581

1998 5,074 459 102 5,635

1997 2,570 351 74 2,995

Included in North America are the United States and Canada. Net sales to unaffiliated customers from North America
were $54.4 million, $55.9 million and $57.7 million for the years ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.
There are no other countries that had material net sales to unaffiliated customers or long-lived assets.

ITEM 9

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Schedule VIII
Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Allowance for Balance at Balance at
doubtful accounts beginning of year Additions Deductions (1) end of year
12/31/97 $684,625 $ 510,793 $553,500 $ 641,918
12/31/98 $641,918 $ 755,448 $618,369 $ 778,997
12/31/99 $778,997 $1,235,480 $605,993 $1,408,483

(1) Amounts include write-offs of accounts receivable deemed to be uncollectible.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table lists our executive officers and directors as of December 31, 1999.

Name Age Position

Robert P. Schechter 51 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer

Robert E. Hult 52 Senior Vice President of Finance and Operations, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
George D. Kontopidis, Ph.D. 45 Senior Vice President of Engineering

Dorothy A. Terrell 54 Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Services and President of the Services Group
R. Brough Turner 53 Senior Vice President of Technology

Alex N. Braverman 40 Vice President and Corporate Controller

Dianne L. Callan 54 Vice President and General Counsel

Allen P. Carney 49 Vice President of Marketing

Joel A. Hughes 35 Vice President of Business Development

James E. Toale 46 Vice President of Human Resources

Charles J. Walker 54 Vice President and General Manager, PolicyPoint Division

Zenas W. Hutcheson, Il 46 Director

W. Frank King, Ph.D. 60 Director

Pamela D. A. Reeve 50 Director

Ronald W. White 59 Director

Each member of our board of directors is elected at the annual meeting of stockholders and holds office for three years
and until his or her successor is elected and qualified.

MR. SCHECHTER has served as a member of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Natural
MicroSystems since April 1995 and as Chairman of the Board since March 1996. From 1987 to 1994, Mr. Schechter held
various senior executive positions with Lotus Development Corporation and from 1980 to 1987 he was a partner of Coop-
ers and Lybrand LLP. Mr. Schechter is also a director of Infinium Software, Inc., a developer of enterprise-level business
software applications.

MR. HULT joined Natural MicroSystems as Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in October
1998 and became Senior Vice President of Finance and Operations in April 1999. From 1996 to 1998 he held numerous
senior executive positions at AltaVista Search Service (a division of Digital Equipment Corporation), departing as Chief
Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and General Manager. He served Digital EQuipment Corporation in a variety of
financial executive positions from 1972 to 1995.

DR. KONTOPIDIS has served as our Vice President of Engineering of the Company since January 1989 and became
Senior Vice President of Engineering in April 1999. From 1984 until 1989, he was director of engineering of the Sea Data
Division of Pacer Systems, Inc., a maker of oceanographic instruments.

MS. TERRELL joined Natural MicroSystems as our Senior Vice President of Corporate Operations and President of the
Services Group in February 1998, and became Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Services and President of
the Services Group in April 1999. From 1991 until 1997, she was President of Sun Express, Inc., the after-marketing and
online services company of Sun Microsystems, Inc. Ms. Terrell is also a director of Sears Roebuck and Company, General
Mills, Inc. and Herman Miller, Inc., a maker of office furniture.
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MR. TURNER, a co-founder of Natural MicroSystems, has served as our Senior Vice President of Technology since
1994. He served as Vice President of Operations from 1983 to 1994.

MR. BRAVERMAN has served as our Vice President and Corporate Controller since February 1999. From 1994 to
1998, Mr. Braverman held senior financial executive positions at Concentra Corporation, a developer of sales and engi-
neering software automation products, most recently as Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. From 1988 to
1994, Mr. Braverman was Controller of Artel Communications Corporation, a manufacturer of networking products.

MS. CALLAN has served as our Vice President and General Counsel since April 1997. She was Deputy General Coun-
sel of Lotus Development Corporation from 1986 to 1996.

MR. CARNEY has served as our Vice President of Marketing since April 1996. From 1992 to 1996, Mr. Carney held vari-
ous marketing positions including Vice President, Applications Marketing and Vice President of International Marketing at
Lotus Development Corporation. From 1982 to 1992, Mr. Carney held various marketing positions including Vice Presi-
dent, European Operations with Atex, Inc., a turnkey supplier of pre-press automation systems.

MR. HUGHES has served as Vice President of Business Development since October 1999. He joined Natural MicroSys-
tems in 1997 as part of the acquisition of ViaDSP, Inc., which he founded in 1996 and of which he served as President. Mr.
Hughes was a founder of DSP Software Engineering in 1989 and served as its Vice President of Consulting until 1996.

MR. TOALE has served as our Vice President, Human Resources since August 1998. From 1984 to 1998 he held vari-
ous positions in human resources for Digital EQuipment Corporation, most recently Vice President, Human Resources for
Digital's AltaVista division.

MR. WALKER, Vice President and General Manager of the PolicyPoint Division, joined Natural MicroSystems in Decem-
ber 1999 as part of its acquisition of QWES.com, Inc., which he founded in April 1998 and of which he served as
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer. Prior to founding QWES, he was Senior Vice President of Engineering at
Ascom Timeplex. He joined Ascom Timeplex in 1990 as part of its acquisition of Doelz Networks, a pioneering company
of asynchronous transfer mode technology, which he founded in 1977 and of which he was Vice President of Engineering.
Mr. Walker is also a director of ASI Wireless Inc., a provider of support services for wireless service providers.

MR. HUTCHESON has served as a director of Natural MicroSystems since 1989. He has been, since September 1998,
a general partner of St. Paul Venture Capital, a venture capital firm. From 1982 to 1998, Mr. Hutcheson was president of
Hutcheson & Co., Inc., a management consulting firm.

DR. KING has served as a director of Natural MicroSystems since 1997. He has been, since November 1998, a private
investor. From 1992 to 1998, he was Chief Executive Officer of PSW Technologies, Inc. (formerly a division of Pencom,
Inc.), a provider of software services. From 1988 to 1992, Dr. King was Senior Vice President of Development of Lotus
Development Corporation, and for the previous 19 years he served in various positions with IBM Corporation, including his
last position as Vice President of Development for the entry system division. He is also a director of Auspex Systems, Inc.,
a provider of network-attached storage devices; eOn Communications Corporation, formerly known as Cortelco Systems,
Inc., a provider of telecommunications applications; Excalibur Technologies Corporation, a developer of document man-
agement software; PSW Technologies, Inc.; Best Software, Inc., a supplier of corporate resource management software
solutions; and Perficient, Inc., a provider of virtual professional services organizations to Internet software companies.

MS. REEVE has served as a director of Natural MicroSystems since 1997. She has served, since September 1993, as
Chief Executive Officer and a director and, from 1989 to September 1993, as President, Chief Operating Officer and a
director of Lightbridge, Inc., a provider of products and services which enable wireless telecommunications carriers to
improve customer acquisition and retention processes. From 1978 to 1989, she was with The Boston Consulting Group, a
management consulting firm. Ms. Reeve is a director of WebLink Wireless, Inc., formerly known as PageMart Wireless,
Inc., a provider of wireless messaging services.

MR. WHITE has served as a director of Natural MicroSystems since 1988. Since October 1997, he has been a partner of
GSM Capital, a venture capital fund focused on wireless technology. Since 1983, Mr. White has been a partner of
Advanced Technology Development Fund, a venture capital firm. Mr. White is also a director of Preferred Networks, Inc., a
provider of paging services.
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ITEM 11

Executive Compensation

The information appearing under the caption “Executive Compensation” (other than the information appearing under the
captions “Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation” and “Comparison of Cumulative Total Stockhold-
er Return”) of the Company’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 28, 2000 is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information appearing under the caption “Stock Ownership of Directors, Executive Officers and Principal Stockhold-
ers” of the Company’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 28, 2000 is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 13

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information appearing under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” of the Company’s Proxy
Statement for is Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held April 28, 2000 is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 14
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8K

(A) (1) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following are included in Part Il of this report:

Report of Independent Accountants

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1998 and 1999.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for the Years Ended December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(A) (2) FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following are included on the indicated pages of this report: Page No.
Report of Independent Accountants on Schedule 27
Schedule VIII Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 43

Schedules not listed above are omitted because they are not required or because the required information is given
in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

(A) (3) EXHIBITS
The Exhibit Index, appearing after the signature page on sequentially numbered page 57, is incorporated herein
by reference.

(A) (4) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
None.

Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

Natural MicroSystems Corporation

By: /s/ Robert P. Schechter

Robert P. Schechter

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

Robert P. Schechter President, Chief Executive Officer and January 24, 2000
/sl Robert P. Schechter Chairman of the Board of Directors (Principal Executive Officer)

Robert E. Hult Senior Vice President of Finance and Operations, January 24, 2000
/sl Robert E. Hult Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer)

Alex N. Braverman Vice President and Corporate Controller January 24, 2000
/sl Alex N. Braverman (Chief Accounting Officer)
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Zenas W. Hutcheson I

/sl Zenas W. Hutcheson Il

W. Frank King, Ph.D.

/s/ W. Frank King, Ph.D.

Pamela D. A. Reeve

/s/ Pamela D. A. Reeve

Ronald W. White

/s/ Ronald W. White

Exhibit Index

Director January 24, 2000
Director January 24, 2000
Director January 24, 2000
Director January 24, 2000

The Company will furnish to any stockholder who so requests, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended,
including a copy of any exhibit listed below, provided that the Company may require payment of a reasonable fee not to
exceed its cost of furnishing such exhibit.

Exhibit
No.
24*

25*

31

41~

10.3*

1011 #*

10.12 #*

10.13#*

10.14 #*

10.18 *

10.19#*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*
211
231
27.1

Title

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of November 30, 1999 by and among the
Registrant, NMS California Acquisition Corp. and QWES.com, Inc. (filed with the Registrant’s Form 8-K dated
January 13, 2000).

Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of December 15, 1999 by and among
the Registrant, NMS California Acquisition Corp., QWES.com, Inc. and NMS Delaware Acquisition Corp. (filed with
the Registrant's Form 8-K dated January 13, 2000).

Fourth Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (filed with the Registrant's Form 10K for the year
ended December 31, 1995). *3.2 By-laws of Registrant, as amended (filed with the Registrant’s registration
statement on Form S-1 (#33-72596)).

Specimen Certificate for the Common Stock (filed with the Registrant’s registration statement on Form
S-1 (#33-72596)).

Agreement dated as of February 28, 1992 between Registrant and Eltron Associates (filed with the Registrant's
registration statement on Form S-1 (#33-72596)).

1989 Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (filed with the Registrant’s registration statement on
Form S-1 (#33-72596)).

1993 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated (filed with the Registrant’s registration statement on
Form S-8 (333-57141)).

1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended and restated (filed with the Registrant’s registration statement on
Form S-8 (333-57141)).

1993 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan as amended and restated (filed with the Registrant’s registration
statement on Form S-8 (333-57141)).

Lease Amendment between Registrant and Lillian Greene dated April 4, 1995 (filed with the Registrant’s Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 31, 1995).

1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated (filed with the Registrant’s registration statement
on Form S-8 (333-57141)).

Lease Amendment between Registrant and National Development of New England, LLC dated October 1996
(filed with the Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996).

Loan Modification Agreement dated May 17, 1996 between Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank (filed with the
Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1996).

Turnkey Manufacturing Agreement dated June 1, 1996 between the Registrant and Sanmina Corporation.
Subsidiaries of the Company.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Financial Data Schedule

* Previously filed with the registration statement or report indicated.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Company

Natural MicroSystems Corporation

Natural MicroSystems Asia Ltd.

1815-16 Concordia Plaza
1 Science Museum Road
Tsim Sha- Tsui East
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Natural MicroSystems Japan K.K.

Shinjuku Greentower Building 27F
6-14-1 Nishi-Shinjuku
Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 160-0023
Japan

Natural MicroSystems Singapore Pte Ltd.

7 Temasek Boulevard
#44-01, Suntec Tower One
Suntec City 038983
Singapore

Natural MicroSystems Europe S.A.

Immeuble Copernic

Parc Technologique

18/22, Avenue Edouard-Herriot
92356 Le Plessis Robinson
Cedex, France

NMS Telecom Europe S.A.

Immeuble Copernic

Parc Technologique

18/22, Avenue Edouard-Herriot
92356 Le Plessis Robinson
Cedex, France

Natural MicroSystems Europe GmbH

Kapellenstrasse 45 A
D-65830 Kriftel bei Frankfurt
Germany

Natural MicroSystems Limited

Kingsmead
Epping Road
Roydon

Essex CM19 5HU
United Kingdom

Natural MicroSystems Italia

C.so Re Umberto, 79
10128 Torino
Italy

NMS BRO (China)

NMS International Beijing Rep.
1209 Beijing Silver Tower

#2 North Road, Dong San Huan
Chao Yong District

China

NMS lberica

P Castellena, 141
Edificio Cuzco IV
28046 Madrid, Spain

Natural MicroSystems Australia Pty Ltd. Tower Three

580 George Street
Sidney, New South Whales 1171
Australia
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Natural MicroSystems Corporation

Natural MicroSystems International, Inc. 100 Crossing Boulevard
Framingham, MA 01702

Natural MicroSystems Europe, Inc. 100 Crossing Boulevard
Framingham, MA 01702

Natural MicroSystems FSC Ltd. 69 A Kronprindsens Gade
P.O. Box 301858-UDS
Cherlotte Amilie
St. Thomas
US Virgin Islands 00803

Natural MicroSystems Securities Corporation 100 Crossing Boulevard
Framingham, MA 01702

Natural MicroSystems Intelligent Network Division 911 North Plum Grove Road
Schaumburg, IL 60173

Natural MicroSystems Korea, Inc. 100 Crossing Boulevard
Framingham, MA 01702

QWES.com, Inc. 14742 Newport Avenue, Suite 203
Tustin, CA 92780

EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Consent of Independent Accountant

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (file No. 333-xxxxx) of
Natural MicroSystems Corporation of our report dated January 24, 2000, relating to the financial statements and financial
statement schedule of Natural MicroSystems Corporation, which appears in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
January 26, 2000
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Natural MicroSystems Corporation

EXHIBIT 27.1

Financila Data Schedule

This schedule contains summary financial information extracted from the consolidated audited financial statements for the
year ending 1998 and is qualified in its entirety by reference to such financial statements.

Period-Type Year
Fiscal-Year End Dec-31-1999
Period-Start Jan-01-1999
Period-End Dec-31-1999
Cash 16,617
Securities 6,837
Receivables 13,012
Allowances 1,408
Inventory 5,393
Current-Assets 45,495
PP&E 27,255
Depreciation 12,384
Total-Assets 70,709
Current-Liabilities 19,890
Bonds 0
Preferred-Mandatory 0
Preferred 0
Common 128
Other-SE 0
Total-Liability-and-Equity 70,709
Sales 79,476
Total-Revenues 79,476
CGS 31,520
Total-Costs 31,520
Other-Expenses 64,590
Loss-Provision 0
Interest-Expense 0
Income-Pre-Tax (17,688)
Income-Tax 1,000
Income-Continuing (18,688)
Discontinued 0
Extraordinary 0
Changes 0
Net-Income (18,688)
EPS-Basic (1.63)
EPS-Diluted (1.63)
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF
NATURAL MICROSYSTEMS CORPORATION

Zenas W. Hutcheson llI

GENERAL PARTNER
ST. PAUL VENTURE CAPITAL

W. Frank King, Ph. D.

PRIVATE INVESTOR, FORMER PRESIDENT
AND CEO OF PSW TECHNOLOGIES

Pamela D. A. Reeve

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
LIGHTBRIDGE, INC.

Ronald W. White

GENERAL PARTNER
GSM CAPITAL

Corporate Officers

Robert P. Schechter

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD, PRESIDENT
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Robert E. Hult

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT OF FINANCE AND
OPERATIONS, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
AND TREASURER

George D. Kontopidis, Ph. D.
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT OF ENGINEERING

Dorothy A. Terrell

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT OF
WORLDWIDE SALES AND SERVICES AND
PRESIDENT OF THE SERVICES GROUP

R. Brough Turner
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT OF TECHNOLOGY

Alex N. Braverman

VICE PRESIDENT AND
CORPORATE CONTROLLER

Dianne L. Callan
VICE PRESIDENT AND GENERAL COUNSEL

Allen P. Carney
VICE PRESIDENT OF MARKETING

Joel A. Hughes
VICE PRESIDENT OF BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

James E. Toale
VICE PRESIDENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES

Charles J. Walker

VICE PRESIDENT AND GENERAL MANAGER,
POLICYPOINT DIVISION

Stockholders’ Information

Stock Trading Information
NASDAQ National Market
Symbol NMSS

Transfer Agent

State Street Bank and Trust
Box 8200

Boston, MA 02266

Counsel

Choate, Hall & Stewart
53 State Street
Exchange Place
Boston, MA 02109

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
One International Place
Boston, MA 02110

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders

of Natural MicroSystems Corporation
will be held on Friday, April 28,2000 at
1:00 PM, at the Company’s headquarters,
100 Crossing Boulevard, Framingham,
MA 01702.

Form 10-K

Stockholders wishing a copy of

Form 10-K may receive one free
of charge by contacting investor
relations at (508) 271-1204 or by
e-mail at info@nmss.com

Natural MicroSystems, Convergence Generation, Fusion, Natural Access, NaturalEdge, and NaturalFax are trademarks of Natural MicroSystems Corporation. CompactPCl is a registered

trademark of PCI Industrial Computers Manufacturers Group (PICMG). Ericsson is a trademark of Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson. Lucent Technologies and IP ExchangeComm are trade-
marks of Lucent Technologies Inc. Electra Elite is a registered trademark of NEC America, Inc. Clarent is a registered trademark of Clarent Corporation. All other product or corporate refer-
ences may be trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies.
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Natural MicroSystems
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